## **Charles University** Second Faculty of Medicine

Doctoral study program: Molecular and Cellular Biology, Genetics and Virology



## Natividad Alquezar Artieda, M.Sc

### Cancer metabolism and its role in the sensitivity of leukemic cells to L-asparaginase

<u>Nádorový metabolismus a jeho role v citlivosti leukemických buněk</u> <u>k L-asparagináze</u>

**Dissertation Thesis** 

Supervisor: RNDr. Júlia Starková, Ph.D.

Prague, 2023

#### Declaration

I declare hereby that I made this dissertation thesis by myself and that I mentioned and cited properly all the sources and literature. At the same time, I declare that this thesis was not used to obtain another or the same title.

I agree with permanent deposition of an electronic version of my thesis in the system database of interuniversity project Thesis.cz for a permanent control of similarities of theses.

In Prague on 22.6.2023

Name-Surname

.....

Natividad Alquezar Artieda

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Júlia Starková, for her advice and patient guidance from the very early beginning of my research experience. I would also like to thank my laboratory colleagues who participated in the experiments described in my thesis, especially Kateřina Hložková.

This endeavour would not have been possible without the support of my family, my longterm partner Ricardo and my friends. Special thanks go to Josipa Grušanović, Jovana Doderović, and Petra Hadlová, who helped me to confront the most significant challenge of my doctoral studies. Words cannot express how grateful I am.

### Cancer metabolism and its role in the sensitivity of leukemic cells to Lasparaginase

#### ABSTRACT

No ultimate treatment strategy exists for relapsed or non-responsive (15-20%) children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). In this study, we aimed to elucidate the impact of metabolic rewiring in leukemic cells on poor therapy response and the emergence of resistance. This dissertation focuses on 1-asparaginase (ASNase), a crucial chemotherapeutic agent and its effect on leukemia, using models of leukemic cell lines and primary cells of ALL patients. Cell metabolism was assessed by measuring metabolic pathways and nutrient influx using a Seahorse analyzer and stable isotope tracing. Main findings of the study demonstrated that the ASNase-therapy response was mitigated by the activity of the mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR)-regulated biosynthetic pathways. This phenomenon was induced by the bone marrow environment, which enabled the activation of the resistant mechanism in leukemic cells. We next found a correlation between the following metabolic features and lower sensitivity to ASNase: low ATP-linked respiration, high mitochondrial membrane potential and high glycolytic flux before therapy. The latter was shown to have prognostic implications. Moreover, high glycolytic flux was detected in T-ALL to be responsible for ASNase resistance and modulated by the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt pathway. Further, we demonstrated metabolic rewiring plays a role in leukemogenic process driven by deregulated JAK/STAT signaling. In conclusion, we identified several metabolic features implicated in resistance, presenting novel therapeutic targets. Moreover, we have proposed a re-evaluation of patient stratification using cellular metabolism.

#### Keywords

Asparagine, PI3K/Akt pathway, cellular metabolism, childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia, glutamine, l-asparaginase, mesenchymal stromal cells, metabolic profile, mTOR signaling pathway.

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| 2-DG            | 2-deoxy-D-glucose                                 |
|-----------------|---------------------------------------------------|
| AA              | Amino acid                                        |
| ALL             | Acute lymphoblastic leukemia                      |
| AML             | Acute myeloid leukemia                            |
| AMPK            | AMP-activated protein kinases                     |
| Asn             | Asparagine                                        |
| ASNase          | L-asparaginase                                    |
| ASNS            | Asparagine synthetase                             |
| ATP             | Adenosine triphosphate                            |
| B-ALL           | B-lymphoblastic leukemia                          |
| B/M MPAL        | B and myeloid mixed phenotype ALL                 |
| BCP             | B-cell precursor                                  |
| BM              | Bone marrow                                       |
| BSA             | Bovine serum albumin                              |
| C-kit BMC       | C-Kit positive bone marrow cells                  |
| CAD             | Carbamoyl-phosphate synthetase                    |
| CLP             | Common lymphoid progenitors                       |
| CML             | Chronic myeloid leukemia                          |
| CMP             | Common myeloid progenitors                        |
| CyTOF           | Mass cytometer                                    |
| d               | Day                                               |
| DNA             | Deoxyribonucleic acid                             |
| E. chrysanthemi | Erwinia chrysanthemi                              |
| E. coli         | Escherichia coli                                  |
| ECAR            | Extracellular acidification rate                  |
| ETC             | Electron transport chain                          |
| FAO             | Fatty acid oxidation                              |
| FCCP            | Carbonylcyanide p-trifluoromethoxyphenylhydrazone |
| Gln             | Glutamine                                         |
| GLUT 1          | Glucose transporter 1                             |
| GMP             | Granulocyte-macrophage progenitor                 |
| GS-MS           | Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry              |
| GSK-3 beta      | Glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta                   |

| HAP1   | Huntington-associated protein 1 gene                          |
|--------|---------------------------------------------------------------|
| HCA    | Hierarchical clustering analysis                              |
| НСТ    | Hematopoietic-cell transplantation                            |
| HEPES  | 4-(2-hydrozyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid            |
| Hex-1  | Hexokinase 1                                                  |
| HIF-1  | Hypoxia-inducible factor 1                                    |
| HPLC   | High-performance liquid chromatograpy                         |
| HSC    | Hematopoetic stem cells                                       |
| IS     | Internal standard                                             |
| ITS    | Insulin, Transferrin, Selenium                                |
| JAK    | Janus kinase                                                  |
| LDHA   | Lactate dehydrogenase                                         |
| MEP    | Megakaryocyte-erythroid progenitor                            |
| min    | Minute                                                        |
| MMP    | Mitochondrial membrane potential                              |
| MPAL   | mixed phenotype ALL                                           |
| MPP    | Multipotent progenitors                                       |
| MRD    | Minimal residual disease                                      |
| MSCs   | Mesenchymal stromal cells                                     |
| mTOR   | Mechanistic target of rapamycin                               |
| MTS    | 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4- |
|        | sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium                                   |
| NaCl   | Sodium chloride                                               |
| NF-kB  | Nuclear factor kappa B                                        |
| OCR    | Oxygen consumption rate                                       |
| OPRM1  | Opioid receptor µ1                                            |
| OXPHOS | Oxidative phosphorylation                                     |
| p-     | Phosphorylated                                                |
| PEG    | Polyethylene glycol                                           |
| PES    | Polyethersulfone                                              |
| PI3K   | Phosphoinositide 3-kinase                                     |
| pre-B  | Precursor B                                                   |
| PTEN   | Phosphatase and Tensin homologue deleted                      |
| RNA    | Ribonucleic acid                                              |

| RPMI     | Roswell Park Memorial Institute Medium           |
|----------|--------------------------------------------------|
| RTK      | Receptor tyrosine kinase                         |
| SREBP    | Sterol responsive element binding protein        |
| STAT     | Signal transducer and activator of transcription |
| T-ALL    | T acute lyphoblastic leukemia                    |
| T/M MPAL | T and myeloid mixed phonotype ALL                |
| TCA      | Tricarboxylic                                    |
| TMRE     | Tetramethylrhodamineethyl ester perchlorate      |
| ToF      | Time to flight                                   |
| USA      | United States                                    |

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

| TABLE OF CONTENTS                                                                                                                                       | 8          |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------|
| 1. INTRODUCTION                                                                                                                                         | . 10       |
| 1.1 Acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children                                                                                                            | . 10       |
| 1.2 Treatment of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia                                                                                                 | . 15       |
| 1.3 Metabolism                                                                                                                                          | . 17       |
| 1.3.1 Glucose metabolism and glycolysis                                                                                                                 | . 17       |
| 1.3.2 TCA cycle and glutamine metabolism                                                                                                                | . 19       |
| 1.3.3 Oxidative phosphorylation                                                                                                                         | . 20       |
| 1.3.4 Fatty acid oxidation                                                                                                                              | . 21       |
| 1.3.5 Heterogeneity of metabolic phenotype in cancer cells                                                                                              | . 21       |
| 1.4. L-asparaginase                                                                                                                                     | . 22       |
| 1.4.1 Enzymatic activity of l-asparaginase                                                                                                              | . 23       |
| 1.4.2 Advances in the mechanism of action of ASNase in acute lymphoblastic leukemia                                                                     | . 24       |
| 1.4.3 Selective effect of ASNase on leukemic cells                                                                                                      | . 25       |
| 1.4.4 Bioenergetics metabolism of pre-B ALL after ASNase treatment                                                                                      | . 26       |
| 1.4.5 Biosynthetic pathway regulated by the mTOR signaling pathway of pre-B AL after ASNase treatment                                                   | L<br>. 26  |
| 1.6 Bone marrow tumor microenvironment                                                                                                                  | . 28       |
| 2. AIMS                                                                                                                                                 | . 31       |
| 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS                                                                                                                                | . 32       |
| 3.1 BM model                                                                                                                                            | . 32       |
| 3.2 Stable isotope tracing                                                                                                                              | . 32       |
| 3.3 Metabolism analysis using Seahorse analyzer                                                                                                         | . 33       |
| 4. RESULTS                                                                                                                                              | . 35       |
| 4.1 Explore the pro-survival metabolic processes of leukemic cells upon ASNase treatment in the BM microenvironment                                     | . 35       |
| 4.2 Study of the basal metabolic profile of leukemic cells in the cellular response to ASNase treatment                                                 | . 38       |
| 4.3 Investigate PTEN mutations or aberrant PI3K/Akt pathway in T-ALL in ASNas sensitivity and glucose metabolism                                        | se<br>. 40 |
| 4.4 Characterize the role of metabolic rewiring in malignant transformation driven mutated JAK2 kinases identified in <i>BCR-ABL</i> -like ALL subgroup | by<br>. 42 |
| 5. DISCUSSION                                                                                                                                           | . 46       |
| 5.1 Novel therapeutic targets raised from the understanding of ASNase driven resistant mechanism leading to relapsed leukemia                           | . 47       |
| 5.2 Leukemia metabolism as a prognostic factor in non-responsive patients                                                                               | . 51       |
| 5.3 Study limitation and future perspectives                                                                                                            | . 54       |

| 6. CONCLUSIONS           |  |
|--------------------------|--|
| 7. SUMMARY               |  |
| 8. LITERATURE REFERENCES |  |
| 9. ATTACHMENTS           |  |

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children

Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) is the most frequently diagnosed childhood cancer worldwide (Smith et al., 2010; Ward et al., 2014). It is defined as a malignant neoplasm of lymphocytes that suppresses the normal function of hematopoiesis. The suppression occurs through the clonal accumulation of immature lymphoid cells in the bone marrow. These cells are arrested at the lymphoid stage (common lymphoid progenitors, CLP) or later stage of development, and do not continue their normal maturation pathway to natural killer cells, lymphoid T cells and lymphoid B cells (Fig. 1). Without mature cells of these lineages, the innate and adaptive branches of the immune system are impaired, losing the defense of the organism against harmful substances and pathogens (Olson et al., 2020). Moreover, it affects other cell lineages. The counts of erythrocytes and megakaryocytes are reduced, which compromises oxygen transport throughout the body and the development of platelets, respectively (Gurbuxani et al., 2021).



**Figure 1**. The model of normal hematopoietic differentiation. Of hematopoeitic stem cells (HSC) arise multipotent progenitors (MPP), which produce two different lineage-restricted progenitors, common myeloid progenitor (CMP) and common lymphoid progenitor (CLP). The first gives rise to megakaryocyte-erythroid progenitor (MEP) and granulocyte-macrophage progenitor (GMP). Ultimately, MEP, GMP and CLP produce all mature hematopoietic cells. Each bifurcating lineage choice is regulated either in a stochastic manner or in response to cytokines. Unchanched figure from (Olson et al., 2020).

The responsible events of ALL development are still not completely described. However, experts in the field agree that exist at least two phases of genetic mutation acquisitions to overt leukemia (Fig. 2). The initiating genetic lesions in the cell of origin, often chromosomal translocations, induce the generation of a small clonal population of preleukemic cells. The cell of origin could be HSC or arising progenitors from them. The clonal population gains self-renewal capacity, differentiation blockage, epigenetic reprogramming and/or deregulated signaling (Kuiper et al., 2007; Mullighan et al., 2007, 2009). Nevertheless, developing leukemia requires another hit of genetic mutation acquisition (Zelent et al., 2004). The secondary mutations are more diverse than the initiating translocations and are often generated by abnormal repetitive periods of inflammation. Excessive expansion of HSC during inflammation increases replicative stress, increasing their genetic instability (Olson et al., 2020; Søegaard et al., 2018). Ultimately, somatic mutations are accumulated and cause the clinical manifestation of leukemia. Secondary mutations cause unlimited proliferation and several deregulated pathways, including metabolism reprogramming (Hunger & Mullighan, 2015b).

The incidence of ALL is elevated compared to other pediatric cancers (Kodytkova et al., 2018; Stiller et al., 2006). It accounts for 32% of pediatric cancers in Europe for children under the age of 15 years. More specifically, it accounts for 21,6% of Czech pediatric cancer diagnoses under the age of 14 years.



**Figure 2**. Genetic aberrations acquisition course into two phases to overt leukemia. HSC and arise progenitors from them gain an initiating lesion, often a chromosomal translocation, that generates a small population of pre-leukemic cells. These cells can accumulate crucial somatic mutations upon several abnormal inflammations that drive their malignant transformation to leukemia. Figure from (Dander et al., 2021) and cropped by the author of this dissertation.

ALLs are subdivided hierarchically and account for more than 30 genetic subgroups (Jeha et al., 2021). In the first level, ALLs are separated by their immunophenotype (cell-surface and cytoplasmatic markers), namely B and T cells. About 85% are of the B-cell lineage, also called precursor B-ALL (BCP-ALL) and the rest 15% are T-ALL. This first

level reflects in which lymphoid lineage, the cells became malignant. This specific differentiation is required because it has prognostic implications. Patients with T-ALL have worse treatment outcomes than B-ALL. In the second classification level, each cell lineage group is subdivided into recurrent initiating genetic lesions (Fig. 2)(Hunger & Mullighan, 2015a; Teachey & Pui, 2019).

The genetic subtypes of both ALL lineages also have prognostic value and therapeutic implications (J. F. Li et al., 2018). BCP-ALL commonly arises from aneuploidy (alterations in chromosome number) and chromosomal translocations. When the number of chromosomes increases above fifty, it is called hyperdiploidy and is associated with a favorable outcome. Its incidence is approximately 25.8% of the total cases with childhood ALL. The loss of chromosomes, known as hypodiploidy, accounts for 1% of pediatric ALL. Chromosome numbers between 31-39 indicate a bad prognosis and 24-30 chromosomes are associated with intermediate prognosis. Intrachromosomal amplifications are also observed in ALL, as in the case of the *iAMP21* subtype, which has a partial amplification of the chromosome 21. It represents 0.8% of the ALL and has a good prognosis. The best identified chromosomal translocations with a good prognosis are ETV6-RUNX1 (21.4%) and TCF3-PBX1 (2.8%). For the poor prognosis, there are KMT2A (MLL) rearrangements (4.7%) and BCR-ABL1 (2.2%). The new subtypes based on the newly identified chromosomal translocations are BCR-ABL1-like (2.5%), ETV6-RUNX1-like (1.5%), DUX4-rearranged ALL (3.3%), MEF2D (0.5%), ZNF384-rearranged (1.2%) and other B-ALL (14.8%), which have diverse prognoses. Other B-ALL includes PAX5-altered and NUTM1 rearrangements, among others (Fig. 3) (Gu et al., 2019; Inaba & Pui, 2021).



**Figure 3**. Genetic subtypes of pediatric ALL. Percentages are the approximate incidence of the most common genetic subgroups. Labels with surrounded by square shapes are T-ALL and the rest B-ALL. Figure from (Inaba & Pui, 2021)

Of note, not all the subtypes mentioned above have a recurrent initiating translocation, as is the case of *BCR-ABL1*-like ALL. The latter has a similar transcriptional profile to BCR-ABL1+ ALL but lacks the BCR-ABL1 fusion gene. Instead, it has diverse genetic translocations, copy number alterations and sequence mutations that deregulate some signaling pathways (M. L. Den Boer et al., 2009; Mullighan et al., 2009; Roberts et al., 2012; Van Der Veer et al., 2013). The Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK/STAT) signaling pathways is one of the examples that is aberrantly activated in BCR-ABL-like ALL (J. M. Boer et al., 2017; Inaba & Pui, 2021). JAK2 fusions are one of the mutations that cause that effect in JAK/STAT signaling. JAK2 is a tyrosine kinase, and the chimeric protein formed by JAK2 fusions retains its catalytic domain, which is responsible for the deregulated pathway (Schinnerl et al., 2015). In normal cells, cytokines and growth factors activate the JAK/STAT signaling pathway, which interacts with their corresponding receptors, leading to receptor dimerization (Fig. 4). The latter recruits the JAK to be activated. Subsequently, p-JAK phosphorylates the tyrosine on the receptors and forms a docking site for the corresponding STATs. The affected STATs are phosphorylated on their tyrosine residues and dissociated from the receptor in the form of homodimer or heterodimer.

STAT dimers enter the nucleus and regulate transcription or interact with other pathways as phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PIK3)/Akt/mTOR, e.g. (X. Hu et al., 2021).



**Figure 4**. Activation of JAK/STAT signaling pathway by cytokine or growth factors. Dark arrows represent the activating process. Figure from (X. Hu et al., 2021)and edited by the author of this dissertation

T-ALL classification is not based on the recurrent initiating genetic aberrations since no clear association between them and patient outcomes was observed. Nonetheless, recurrent mutations can be found in specific transcription factors and oncogenes (Inaba & Pui, 2021). The most common genetic alterations are: *TAL1* (5.8%), *LMO2/LYL1* (1.2%), *TLX1* (1.8%), *TLX3* (2.8%) and *HOXA* (2.3%) from the total cases of ALL (Fig. 3). These mutations are combined with other aberrant alterations as activating mutations in Notch signaling pathways in 70% of T-ALL or JAK/STAT in 25% of the cases (Y. Liu et al., 2017). Notch is a transmembrane receptor involved in T-cells precursor development in normal hematopoiesis (Ellisen et al., 1991). In T-ALL, cases with mutated Notch have a truncated form whose activation was associated with cell proliferation, metabolism regulation, and protein synthesis (T. Palomero et al., 2006; Teresa Palomero & Ferrando, 2009).

There exists an additional subtype of leukemia, which does not fall into either B-ALL or T-ALL group and it is called mixed phenotype ALL (MPAL). MPAL is characterized by expression of cell surface proteins from multiple lineages, specifically B and myeloid (B/M MPAL) or T and myeloid (T/M MPAL). Immunophenotypically, they can be single (biphenotypic) or multiple (bilineal) subpopulations. This subtype manifests a

great plasticity based on multiple lineage characteristics, translating into poor prognosis (Alexander et al., 2018; Takahashi et al., 2018; Xiao et al., 2018).

#### 1.2 Treatment of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia

ALL treatment has been optimized over the years by employing carefully-curated prognostic factors, which led to an overall improved survival. It is considered one of the most significant achievements of modern oncology medicine. From the 1960s until today, ALL survival increased from approximately 10% to more than 90% in developed countries (Hunger & Mullighan, 2015a). Such improvement was caused by the introduction of risk stratification of patients, based on the prognostic factors. Different compositions and drug dosages of the multi-agent chemotherapy regimen are prescribed to individual risk groups. As previously described, the recurrent initiating genetic aberration and immunophenotype are prognostic factors, together with secondary mutations, age, white blood cell count at the time of diagnosis, and evaluation of treatment response. The latter is assessed by measurement of the minimal residual disease (MRD) and by studying the pharmacodynamics and pharmacogenomics of the patient (Inaba & Pui, 2021). MRD, the most informative factor, is a threshold parameter determined by the percentage of leukemic cells in bone marrow (BM) compared to healthy cells (Berry et al., 2017; Ribera et al., 2014). It is measured after the first of the four phases of the chemotherapy regimen. Patients with an MRD higher than 0.01% are facing a higher chance of treatment failure; therefore, they require a higher intensity of the chemotherapy regimen (Borowitz et al., 2008; Pui et al., 2015).

Chemotherapy regimens are divided into four essential phases: remission induction, consolidation, reinduction (delayed intensification), and continuation (Inaba & Pui, 2021). Each phase has standard basic components. First, induction therapy lasts 4 to 6 weeks, and leads to remission in almost all patients. This stage is characterized by the use of the following chemotherapeutic agents as a backbone of the treatment: glucocorticoid (prednisone or dexamethasone), vincristine, and asparaginase preparation. It can be optionally combined with anthracyclines. Second, remission must be consolidated with treatments with intensive combination chemotherapy for 6 to 8 weeks. Third, the reinduction phase lasts for 8 weeks and includes repeated courses of methotrexate administered through short intravenous infusions or high doses over 24 hours. Finally, in the continuation phase, patients receive low-intensity therapy for 18 to 30 months consisting of a daily dose of mercaptopurine or thioguanine, and a weekly oral dose of methotrexate. Some regimens also

include periodic 5-to-7-day administration of glucocorticoids and vincristine (Hunger & Mullighan, 2015a).

Since 2000, the backbone therapy, briefly described above, has included molecularly targeted treatment. Conventional chemotherapy targets the proliferation and mobility of leukemic cells. The drugs of the therapy impair nucleotide and protein synthesis and destroy the integrity of cells in the dividing stage, deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) and ribonucleic acid (RNA). The incorporation of drugs that target molecularly abnormal events in leukemic cells led to an increase in the overall survival from approximately 80% to more than 90% (Inaba & Pui, 2021). Some of the examples of such new chemotherapeutic agents incorporated, for instance, inhibit apoptosis blockage, proliferation upregulation, and overuse of the proteasome of leukemic cells (Diaz-Flores et al., 2019; Horton et al., 2019; Khaw et al., 2016; Shen et al., 2020; Tanasi et al., 2019).

Patients who do not respond to the chemotherapy regimen can relapse during any phase of the therapy and eventually become candidates for hematopoietic-cell transplantation. The faster the patient relapse, the worse the prognosis (Raetz & Bhatla, 2012). If relapse occurs during the primary treatment (induction, consolidation, reinduction and continuation therapies), the leukemic cells of these patients usually harbor mutations that decrease the sensitivity to chemotherapeutic agents (Meyer et al., 2013; Mullighan et al., 2011). Only 50 to 70 % of such patients attain second remission, and only approximately 20 to 30% are cured. If the relapse occurs after the primary treatment, most patients will achieve a second remission, and the chance of a cure is about 50%. Allogenic hematopoietic-cell transplantation (HCT) is performed in more than 50% of the relapsed patients, and the decision is made based on the MRD negativity during the second remission (Peters et al., 2015). In conclusion, relapses occur in 15-20% of pediatric ALL cases, and cure rates are significantly decreased in patients after relapse (K. Nguyen et al., 2008).

The experts in the field agree that new approaches targeting pro-survival molecular mechanisms of leukemic cells and immunotherapy will improve overall survival further to 100% (Inaba & Pui, 2021). The new approaches are highly appealing since the intensities of conventional chemotherapy are set at the tolerance limit. Even though, further increase in the chemotherapy regimen intensity may potentially improve the overall outcome, it comes at a price of simultaneously increasing the adverse effects. Nowadays, it exists many ongoing investigations to optimize the use of new molecular targeted drugs in combination with or as a substitute for conventional chemotherapy. Therefore, a better understanding of

leukemogenesis and its several molecular responses to chemotherapeutic drugs could be helpful (Starkova et al., 2018).

#### 1.3 Metabolism

Metabolic rewiring is a part of the malignant transformation of hematopoietic progenitors and leads the cells to obtain maximal profit from the nutrients while avoiding redox damage (Pavlova et al., 2022). In malignant cells, unlimited proliferation requires unlimited nutrient oxidation. This phenomenon is incompatible with the metabolic phenotype of differentiated cells. The metabolic phenotype of the latter is limited to a certain influx of nutrients because its primary goal is to generate energy. In differentiated cells, the based-carbon nutrients are degraded. Their products are then metabolized by the electron transport chain (ETC) in the mitochondria to form adenosine triphosphate (ATP), the energy carrier. In case of a massive influx of nutrients, the oxidative capacity of ETC could be overwhelmed, causing reductive damage. To avoid that, cancer and proliferating cells modify the metabolic pathways to use additional carbons for biomass synthesis. Thus, cancer cells undergo a metabolic rewiring during the malignant transformation to cope with their unlimited cell proliferation capacity.

#### 1.3.1 Glucose metabolism and glycolysis

The metabolism of glucose, the primary substrate promoting cell proliferation, is strictly regulated in healthy cells. Pro-proliferative activating signals come from extrinsic factors. In general, the mentioned factors are generated by tissue needs to maintain homeostasis, regardless of individual cell needs. However, the situation changes with cancer cells since their mutations allow them to escape from the tissue controls. In healthy cells, glucose uptake is activated by environmental growth factors and positional cues (Thompson, 2011), (Fig. 5). These stimulate the activation of downstream signaling events like the receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK)-PI3K-Akt1 cascade. Its primary function is to promote the expression of glucose transporter 1 (GLUT 1) on the cell surface (Barthel et al., 1999; Meyer et al., 2013; Wieman et al., 2007). Once the glucose is imported, Akt1 increases the activity of the hexokinase 1 (first enzyme of glycolysis), and glucose enters the metabolic pathway (Rathmell et al., 2003). Extrinsic factors are not the only molecules controlling cell proliferation in healthy cells. In order to strictly regulate cell growth, negative regulators act as a secondary barrier to avoid massive expansion. For instance, phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted (PTEN) dephosphorylate PI3K, inhibiting the signaling cascade (Fig. 5)

(Chu & Tarnawski, 2004). Mutations of this negative regulator and PI3K are often involved in the driving events in tumorigenesis. They are responsible for PI3K/Akt1 signaling activation independently of external factors along with other alterations, which allows the unlimited proliferation of cancer cells (Lawrence et al., 2014; Pavlova et al., 2022).

Glycolysis is the pathway through which glucose is oxidized. It comprises numerous catabolic chain reactions that convert glucose into pyruvate, producing two ATP molecules and an electron carrier. Notably, glycolysis yields approximately fifteen times less ATP per glucose molecule than ETC. In resting cells, pyruvate follows one of two different fates depending on oxygen availability. In normoxia, it is introduced into the tricarboxylic (TCA) cycle while converted into lactate in hypoxia (Pavlova et al., 2022)That is not a strict rule since proliferative and cancer cells were reported to convert pyruvate to lactate in normoxia as well (Brand et al., 1986; Chambers et al., 2010; Noch & Khalili, 2012). Dr Otto Warburg was the first to describe this phenomenon in cancer cells. He observed that cancer cells consume abnormal amounts of glucose and rely on glycolysis to produce ATP instead of ETC in normoxic conditions (Warburg, 1956; Warburg et al., 1927). This event was named the Warburg effect. It describes the conversion of glucose into lactate even when oxygen is available.

The Warburg effect is redox neutral (Fig 5). It means that an electron carrier, generated by the oxidation of glucose to pyruvate, is used to synthesize lactate. By reusing the electron carriers, it becomes independent of ETC. Without the limitations of ETC, glucose is constantly imported and oxidized, increasing ATP production efficiency and accumulating glycolytic intermediates (Pavlova et al., 2022; Sullivan et al., 2018). Such a metabolic state is beneficial for cancer cells, and they enhance it by genetic alterations, for instance, amplification mutation in the oncogene c-myc. C-myc increases the expression of many enzymes that promote the conversion of pyruvate to lactate, like lactate dehydrogenase (LDHA) (Pavlova & Thompson, 2016). Another way cancer enhances glycolysis flux is by loss of function mutation in transcription factors that suppress access to glucose, which is the case of PAX5 in B-ALL (Chan et al., 2018).

The accumulated glycolytic intermediates are then used for biomass production. The large excess of glycolytic intermediates in transformed cells prompts the branching of glycolysis to generate nucleotides, di- and triglycerides, phospholipids and proteins (Fan et al., 2014; Patra & Hay, 2014).



**Figure 5**. Metabolic circuits of proliferative cells. Figure designed by the author of this dissertation using Biorender

#### 1.3.2 TCA cycle and glutamine metabolism

The TCA cycle is a catabolic process in which glucose-derived pyruvate is oxidized to generate the majority of electron carriers in the metabolism of resting cells (Fig. 5). Under pro-proliferative stimuli, the amount of glucose-derived pyruvate is reduced due to its utilization in branched pathways. As a result, cells become dependent on glutamine (Gln) import to fuel the TCA cycle. The main driver of Gln utilization in proliferative and transformed cells is c-myc, introduced before as the lactate synthesis regulator (Avissar et al., 2008; Reynolds et al., 2014; Wise et al., 2008). C-myc induces the expression of transmembrane Gln transporters and the enzymes for its catabolism. Gln is converted into

glutamate and enters the TCA cycle (Gao et al., 2009; Mannava et al., 2008). In addition to their role in fueling the TCA cycle, Gln and glutamate have essential roles as nitrogen donors for other biosynthetic pathways, biomass for protein synthesis, mitigators of oxidative stress, and antiport for non-essential amino acids (AAs) from the extracellular matrix (Daemen et al., 2018; Nicklin et al., 2009).

As a response to high levels of nutrients like glucose and Gln entering the TCA cycle, the accumulation of the TCA cycle's intermediates leads to the activation of biosynthetic pathways. TCA intermediates are precursors to lipids, cholesterol and AA synthesis (Hatzivassiliou et al., 2005; Porstmann et al., 2008; Shao et al., 2020).

#### 1.3.3 Oxidative phosphorylation

Oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) is the pathway through which the electron carriers are oxidized to generate ATP (Fig. 5). It takes place in the ETC and encompasses four complexes and ATP synthase, localized in the inner mitochondrial membrane. The electron carriers from glycolysis and the TCA cycle interact with ETC and release protons (H<sup>+</sup>) and electrons (e<sup>-</sup>). Protons accumulate in the interspace of the membrane, and electrons travel through all the complexes. As a result, the charge difference generates an electrochemical gradient that forces the protons through the ATP synthase, producing ATP (Zorova et al., 2018). Noteworthy, the accumulation of protons in the interspace space generates a mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP). When MMP levels are not sufficient, the cells enter apoptosis (Elmore, 2007; Liou & Storz, 2010).

The oxidation capacity of OXPHOS has limitations (Pavlova et al., 2022). The electron carriers oxidized in the ETC are reused to pick up electrons from the catabolism of new nutrients through those biosynthetic pathways. Thus, the cell keeps oxidizing nutrients constantly. However, OXPHOS can only oxidize a limited number of electron carriers. In case of excessive production of these carriers in proliferating cells, they accumulate in the cells, causing redox damage. Ultimately, the cells initiate the cell death program if the redox damage is not reduced (Fulda et al., 2010). Nevertheless, proliferative cells relieve the overload of ETC by using electron carriers for lactate and lipid synthesis.

In proliferating cells, both OXPHOS and glycolysis maintain ATP production. The latter is needed to power actin filament remodeling during cell division. Therefore, it is crucial for cancer cells. Any decreasing fluctuation of ATP will activate the AMP-activated protein kinases (AMPK), which increase the expression of proteins involved in glycolysis and fatty

acid oxidation (FAO). Simultaneously, it switches off biosynthetic pathways that require ATP (Rashkovan & Ferrando, 2019).

#### **1.3.4 Fatty acid oxidation**

FAO is more efficient regarding ATP generation than any other pathway oxidizing carbohydrates (Schafer et al., 2009). However, it is reserved for metabolic stress situations. FAO is a set of cyclical reactions of oxidation during which the fatty acids drop two carbons and two electrons in each cycle. The two carbons are released as acetyl-CoA. A fatty acid molecule gets degraded through this pathway until only four carbons are left in the chain. Then, two acetyl-CoA molecules are released in the last round of the oxidation process. Two electron carriers pick up electrons in each cycle. Since fatty acids are the main components of the cell membrane, their synthesis is essential in cell division for the formation of two daughter cells. Specifically, TCA cycle intermediates are precursors to lipid synthesis. Therefore, fatty acids are not wasted as an energy source under non-stress conditions (Carracedo et al., 2013). Noteworthy, in nutrient abundance conditions, cancer cells store the surplus of carbon in lipid structures as a reservoir of energy for periods of metabolic stress (Tan et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2019). FAO is activated when metabolic stress of the cell arises. It was observed in the resistance of leukemic cells to various chemotherapeutic agents (German et al., 2016; Han et al., 2019; I Hermanova et al., 2016; Prew et al., 2022).

The main functions of FAO are the maintenance of ATP and the generation of electron carriers. Acetyl-CoA molecules can enter the TCA cycle and are used as a precursor to fatty acid synthesis or continue the usual TCA degradation to produce electron carriers. The latter can be used in the biosynthetic pathways for generating biomass or metabolized in the ETC, which leads to ATP production (Carracedo et al., 2013; Prew et al., 2022).

#### 1.3.5 Heterogeneity of metabolic phenotype in cancer cells

Cancer cells might share similar metabolic processes as proliferating cells. However, oncogenic mutations and nutrient availability are factors that determine the metabolic phenotype of cancer, which can be very heterogeneous among cancer types (Kim & DeBerardinis, 2019). For instance, cancers that genetically enhance glucose metabolism can have high or low OXPHOS activity, resulting in different phenotypes. Cancer cells with a glycolytic phenotype (Warburg effect) provide sufficient ATP for cell division from glycolysis, which decreases OXPHOS activity (Birsoy et al., 2015; Lucas Sullivan et al., 2015). When high glycolysis is combined with high OXPHOS flux, the phenotype is known

as energetic (Fiorillo et al., 2019). Cancers without high glycolytic flux, such as leukemic stem cells and a subset of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, appear to depend predominantly on OXPHOS. Instead of using glucose as a nutrient, they use alternative fuels such as fatty acids, and their phenotype is aerobic (Jones et al., 2018; Ye et al., 2016).

Furthermore, metabolic phenotypes can be changed due to nutrient availability. An aberrant capacity of nutrient uptake is typical in all cancers, giving them the plasticity to rewire the metabolic circuits based on the nutrients in the environment (Hui et al., 2017; Mashimo et al., 2014; Palm & Thompson, 2017; Pavlova et al., 2018; Pusapati et al., 2016), Hui et al, 2017; Mashimo et al., 2014). Metabolic phenotypes in cancer are both heterogeneous and plastic, and their investigation is vital to design therapeutic strategies based on metabolism to treat cancer (Kim & DeBerardinis, 2019).

#### 1.4. L-asparaginase

L- asparaginase (ASNase) is an enzyme used as a chemotherapeutic agent in ALL therapy since 1974. Its anti-leukemic effect was randomly discovered through experiments with animal sera. In 1953, John Kidd published that lymphoma treatment complemented with guinea pigs serum induced a robust regression of engrafted mouse lymphoma (KIDD, 1953). He used several animal sera, but only guinea pig serum caused such an effect. In 1963, JD Broome identified the enzyme ASNase in the serum as responsible for its antileukemic effect (BROOME, 1963). Subsequently, the finding was confirmed by Mashburn & Wriston (1963), who additionally provided evidence about cancer growth inhibition induced by *Escherichia Coli (E. coli)* ASNase (Mashburn & Wriston, 1964). Besides *E. coli* and guinea pig, there are other sources of ASNase. Plants can produce it, as well as animals (not humans) and microorganisms (Verma et al., 2007). Nevertheless, ASNases from bacterial sources were uniquely included in therapy due to their adequate cost-effectiveness, accelerating their clinical use (Joachim Boos & Pinheiro, 2004).

From the first clinical trials, ASNase demonstrates to be an essential component of ALL treatments. As monotherapy, it inhibited 20 to 60% of cancer growth in ALL patients (Haskell, 1969; Jaffe et al., 1971; Tallal et al., 1970). In the current drug combination, it is applied during the induction and consolidation phases of the treatment (Hunger & Mullighan, 2015a). Notably, the high dose of ASNase in the consolidation period demonstrated excellent results with relatively low morbidity (Pession et al., 2005; Silverman et al., 2001). Therefore, ASNase is an irreplaceable drug for ALL treatments.

#### **1.4.1 Enzymatic activity of l-asparaginase**

The enzymatic activity of ASNase is a deamination process in which 1-asparagine (Asn) and Gln are irreversibly converted into l-aspartic acid and l-glutamic acid, respectively (Fig. 6). Initially, Asn was the only described target of ASNase (Haley et al., 1961). However, further investigation showed that it also has a weak affinity for Gln. Indeed, it is the case of E. coli ASNase. In contrast, ASNases isolated from other organisms do not necessarily target both AAs, or neither has the same range of affinity as the one derived from E. coli (Verma et al., 2007). In general, several different kinetics were observed among the ASNases with different origins (Ghasemian et al., 2019). The cause of different kinetics among ASNases is their biochemical structures. ASNases showed diverse structures, which are translated into various affinities for their targets. Consequently, not all ASNases demonstrated toxic effects on leukemic cells and cancer inhibitory activity (Ghasemian et al., 2019). Even the isoenzymes of ASNase isolated from E. coli are different. The enzyme isolated from the cytosol has a greater affinity for Gln than Asn, while the enzyme isolated from periplasmic spaces has a more substantial effect on Asn (Izadpanah et al., 2018). Therefore, only one additional ASNase was tested and included in ALL therapy, Erwinia chrysanthemi (E. chrysanthemi) ASNase. Both ASNases are currently approved for clinical use and have remained as component of ALL treatment since 1964 (Ghasemian et al., 2019; Wade et al., 1968).



**Figure 6**. Reaction scheme of the enzymatic activity of ASNase. Figure prepared by the author of this dissertation thesis

Approved ASNases differ in their kinetics as well. Therefore, they cannot be interchangeable in terms of dosage recommendation (Joachim Boos & Pinheiro, 2004). The dosage scheme per each stratified group of ALL was optimized in dose-finding studies using *E. coli* ASNase (Ertel et al., 1979; M. Nesbit et al., 1979; M. E. Nesbit et al., 1981).

Subsequently, the dosage scheme was tested in another study using *E. coli*- and *E. chrysanthemi* ASNase. In this study, these therapeutic agents from different bacterial sources differed in concern of the *in vivo* half-life and duration of Asn depletion in treating newly diagnosed pediatric ALL. The half-life of a drug is defined as the time required for a reduction of 50% in the concentration of a drug in plasma. Individually, *E. coli* ASNase was 1.24±0.17 d of the half-life, while *E. chrysanthemi* ASNase was a 0.65± 0.13 d (B. L. Asselin et al., 1993; Barbara L. Asselin, 1999; Pinheiro et al., 1999). Since the primary goal of the ASNase treatment is complete Asn depletion, the dosage recommendation for the clinical application of *E. chrysathemi* ASNase was modified (Joachim Boos & Pinheiro, 2004). This change was introduced after testing different dosages of *E. chrysanthemi* ASNase in another clinical trial (J. Boos et al., 1996). As detailed, both bacterial ASNases required a dose-finding study, which means it is not beneficial to incorporate new native ASNases from other origins into ALL therapy.

Years after mentioned clinical trials, a modified version of *E. coli* ASNase was approved for its clinical application in ALL. The new ASNase has a pegylation, which causes a reduction of the immunogenic response boost by exogenous proteins (Joachim Boos & Pinheiro, 2004). Pegylation is a standard procedure in the pharmaceutical chemistry field. This modification extended the half-life of ASNase, which was four times more compared to its native form (B. L. Asselin et al., 1993). The immunogenic response is one of the speculated reasons why native ASNase is fast eliminated from the bloodstream, reducing the Asn depletion period ((Barbara L. Asselin, 1999; Joachim Boos & Pinheiro, 2004). When used as a front-line therapy with a lower dosage, pegylated ASNase showed comparable efficacy to its native form (Silverman et al., 2001). Thus, pegylated ASNase increases the therapeutic options for children with ALL (Maese & Rau, 2022; Salzer et al., 2007).

#### 1.4.2 Advances in the mechanism of action of ASNase in acute lymphoblastic leukemia

ASNase's depletion effect on Asn and Gln selectively impairs leukemic cell proliferation. Asn is required for protein synthesis, and its absence inhibits cell division (F. F. Becker & Broome, 1967; Frederick F. Becker & Broome, 1969). As stated, Gln is a metabolic nutrient and a precursor of many biosynthetic pathways as a donor of nitrogen and carbon. The depletion of both AAs disturbs metabolism, which leads to the impairment of leukemic cell proliferation. However, the specific mechanism of action is still an open area of investigation. Progressing in the field, Hermanova and colleagues provided a novel

description of the metabolic response of precursor (pre)-B cell ALL to ASNase treatment (I Hermanova et al., 2016).



#### 1.4.3 Selective effect of ASNase on leukemic cells

**Figure 7**. **A**. ASNS deficiency in leukemic cells and the way ASNase induces apoptosis. Figure from (Van Trimpont et al., 2022) and edited by the author of this dissertation. **B**: Biochemistry scheme of the synthesis of Asn from aspartate, catalyzed reaction with the enzyme ASNS (public domain from Creative Commons).

ASNase treatment exploits a deficiency in leukemic cells. Therefore, it has a minor effect on healthy cells (Van Trimpont et al., 2022). Their deficiency is the low capability of synthesizing *de novo* Asn. The gene responsible for this process is Asparagine synthetase (ASNS). While healthy cells, as mesenchymal stem cells, have sufficient gene expression

of ASNS, leukemic cells have undetectable or impaired expression (Figure 7A)(Akahane et al., 2022; Ivana Hermanova et al., 2012; Prager & Bachynsky, 1968). The ASNS enzyme uses aspartate and amino group, from degraded Gln, to synthesize Asn (, (Cooney et al., 1976)(Fig. 7B). As ASNS deficient cells, leukemic cells are dependent on extracellular Asn and its depletion triggers apoptosis activation (Boos 2004).

#### 1.4.4 Bioenergetics metabolism of pre-B ALL after ASNase treatment

Hermanova and colleagues revealed that ASNase disturbed leukemic cell energetic metabolism. ASNase inhibits glycolysis and increases FAO and the capacity of ETC in leukemic cells. In their study, the reduced glycolytic activity was determined by measuring glucose uptake and protein levels of c-myc and glucose transporter. Due to reduced glucose uptake, leukemic cells change the preferential use of glucose for fatty acids, inducing FAO. The nutrient flow exchange leads to a slight increase in some OXPHOS parameters. FAO supplied enough electron carriers to support leukemic cell viability. When they included a FAO inhibitor (etomoxir) in ASNase treatment, the apoptosis of leukemic and primary cells (BCP-ALL patient) was increased (Hermanova et al. 2016). Results of the study showed that metabolic rewiring of leukemic cells induced by ASNase treatment could avoid apoptosis. From the pathways described, FAO upregulation has an important role in reducing the ASNase sensitivity of leukemic cells. It is not the first time FAO was reported as a rescue mechanism in cancer cells. It has been described in studies about malignant lymphoma and breast cancer (Y. J. Li et al., 2022; Sekine et al., 2022).

# 1.4.5 Biosynthetic pathways regulated by the mTOR signaling pathway of pre-B ALL after ASNase treatment

ASNase treatment was previously reported to inhibit the mTOR signaling pathway due to Asn and Gln depletion (Iiboshi et al., 1999). This pathway boosts cell growth and metabolism by modulating protein, lipids, and nucleotide synthesis when cells have nutrient abundance. In contrast, it regulates autophagy and lysosome biogenesis in the absence of nutrients (Saxton & Sabatini, 2017). To activate these functions, mTOR pathway needs to confirm the availability of extracellular nutrients, and it does through different signaling pathways. The key protein of these pathways is mTOR, which nucleates at least three complexes that sense nutrient availability. An example is the mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) AA sensing pathway (Hara et al., 2002; Saxton et al., 2016; Saxton & Sabatini, 2017; Wyant et al., 2017).

In the presence of AAs, the mTOR sensing pathway activates the lysosome-resident complexes associated with Rag GTPase, which recruits and activates mTORC1 (Sancak et al., 2008; Saxton & Sabatini, 2017). The activation of this complex promotes mRNA translation (protein synthesis) by direct phosphorylation of S6K (Fig. 8)(Holz et al., 2005). The latter can activate carbamoyl-phosphate synthetase (CAD) and sterol-responsive element binding protein (SREBP). CAD induces pyrimidine synthesis, while SREBP promotes lipid and glucose synthesis (Ben-Sahra et al., 2016; Düvel et al., 2010; Robitaille et al., 2013). Furthermore, activated mTORC1 increases the expression of ATF4, which induces purine synthesis (Fig. 8) (Ben-Sahra et al., 2016; Saxton & Sabatini, 2017). In free-AA environments, lysosome-resident complexes and Rag-GTPase fail to recruit mTORC1. Therefore, it remains inactive, as well as all its downstream proteins mentioned above.



**Figure 8.** Downstreatm proteins of the signaling pathway of mTORC1 and their role in metabolism. Figure from Saxon & Sabatini 2017 and modified by the author of this dissertation.

While investigating the mTORC1 signaling pathway, Hermanova and colleagues demonstrated that ASNase inhibits biosynthetic pathways of leukemic cells through the RagB-mTORC1 pathway. Rags are heterodimers of RagA or RagB with RagC or RagD that have a GTPase domain which couples with the lysosome-resident complexes to active mTORC1 (Bar-Peled et al., 2012; Sancak et al., 2010). Hermanova and colleagues confirmed that ASNase inhibits pyrimidine and protein synthesis by dephosphorylating S6K and CAD in pre-B ALL cells. Using a model with activating mutation in RagB, they provide evidence that the activation of FAO required mTOR. Thus, ASNase inhibits pre-B ALL cell growth by avoiding AA-dependent mTORC1 activation. In turn, mTORC1 inactivity is sensed as metabolic stress and induces FAO upregulation. In summary, Hermanova and colleagues

identified a metabolic rewiring of leukemic cells with the potential to be responsible for treatment failure(I Hermanova et al., 2016).

#### 1.6 Bone marrow tumor microenvironment

The tumor microenvironment (TME) was recently recognized in the latest cancer hallmark reviews to play a critical role in tumorigenesis, malignant progression and chemoresistance (Hanahan, 2022). Several studies demonstrate that some chemotherapeutic agents affect the expression of cell surface receptors that cause the migration of leukemic cells to their origin tissue (H. C. Liu et al., 2018; H. C. Liu, Gang, Kim, Abdel-Azim, et al., 2020; H. C. Liu, Gang, Kim, Ruan, et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2013). In the BM environment, non-hematopoietic cells and components of the extracellular matrix were observed to interact with the malignant cells and increase their survival both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Iwamoto & Mihara, 2007; A. Manabe et al., 1992; Atsushi Manabe et al., 1994). The pro-leukemic BM environment is created during leukemogenesis through cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions, which modulate the conversion of this tissue to a leukemia-permissive environment (Dander et al., 2021; Ma et al., 2019; Polak et al., 2015; Vasconcellos et al., 2011). The comparison of leukemia patient biopsies with healthy controls confirmed the evidence of an existing pro-leukemic environment (Perez-Atayde et al., 1997; Pulè et al., 2002).

The leukemic BM environment has not been fully described at the moment. However, there is more information about the features of the BM in healthy conditions. Bone marrow is divided into different compartments known as niches. Particular stromal cell populations and extracellular matrix characterize each of them. The stromal cell populations in the BM are osteoblasts, osteoclasts, adipocytes, reticular cells, endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs), and cells of the sympathetic nervous system (Dander et al., 2021; Friedenstein et al., 1987; Kassem et al., 1991; Rickard et al., 1998; Taichman et al., 1996). In healthy BM niches, stromal cells regulate HSCs by the secretion of cytokines, hormones, and growth factors, as well as the expression of receptors and adhesion molecules. The key population of stromal cells is MSCs. These cells are fibroblast-like cells with multipotent ability to differentiate into cells of the three mesodermal lineages: osteocytes, adipocytes, and chondrocytes (Dander et al., 2021).



**Figure 9**. BM niches scheme, showing the location of these niches in the trabecular bone. Each niche has a distinct unknown stromal cell composition. Figure modified from (Zhao & Li, 2016).

There are three different niches in the BM: endosteal, arteriolar, and sinusoidal. The endosteal niche is the closest to the trabecular bone and contains only 14% of HSCs (Kiel et al., 2007)(figure 9). The key orchestrators of this niche are osteoblasts (bone matrix-forming cells), which negatively regulate HSC proliferation. The arteriolar niche promotes HSCs quiescence, and this state protects them from replicative stress (Kunisaki et al., 2013). Stromal cells, endothelial cells, sympathetic nervous system nerves, and non-myelinating Schwann cells were identified to be part of the arteriolar niche. The sinusoidal niche is more permeable than arteriolar niches and promote HSCs activation. This is the place where leukocytes leave or enter the BM. It is suspected that there is a continuous exchange between the arteriolar and sinusoidal niches. That means the HSC pool stays in an equilibrium between proliferation, trafficking, and quiescence (Dander et al., 2021).

In addition to stromal cells, the peculiar oxygen tension of the BM also plays a role in regulating HSCs status. BM oxygen concentration fluctuates between 1 to 7%, and it differs between each niche (Chow et al., 2001). The BM hypoxia signaling is a central element that regulates HSCs quiescence and metabolism. It is modulated by hypoxiainducible factor 1 $\alpha$  (HIF1 $\alpha$ ), which promotes the utilization of anaerobic glycolysis rather than OXPHOS in HSCs (Simsek et al., 2010). Maintaining the glycolytic state is critical to HSC quiescence, which reduces redox damage to the cells and retains their self-renewal capacity (Y. H. Wang et al., 2014).

#### 2. AIMS

The main goal of the dissertation thesis was to elucidate the impact of metabolic rewiring in leukemic cells in relation to therapy response, resistance development and prognosis in ALL. The utilization of current prognostic factors in patient stratification facilitates the selection of suitable therapy regimens for nearly all cases. However, some patients still do not benefit from available treatment, and there are not many options for a successful clinical intervention after emerge of resistance. We propose that resistance to conventional therapy could be reduced by understanding the complex effect of the chemotherapy components, mainly ASNase. New findings could be implemented in i) therapy modulation, ii) patient stratification and iii) prediction of individual response to chemotherapy and iv) implementation of metabolism targeted therapy.

This study was divided into four connected projects:

- Explore the pro-survival metabolic processes of leukemic cells upon ASNase treatment in the BM microenvironment.
- Study of the basal metabolic profile of leukemic cells in the cellular response to ASNase treatment.
- Investigate PTEN mutations or aberrant PI3K/Akt pathway in T-ALL in the ASNase sensitivity and glucose metabolism.
- Characterize the role of metabolic rewiring in malignant transformation driven by mutated JAK2 kinases identified in *BCR-ABL*-like ALL subgroup.

#### **3. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

A detailed description of methods and experiments performed in the individual studies compiled in this dissertation is attached within corresponding publications. In this section, the crucial methods that form the main content of the investigation study have been described.

#### 3.1 BM model

The author of this dissertation developed and optimized the BM model, which was crucial for the findings of publication 1. The model was based on a 2D cell coculture approach using Corning® Transwell® permeable supports inserts (Merck Life Science, Darmstadt, Germany) for 6- or 24-well plates. MSCs (Hamada et al., 2005; Nierste et al., 2014; Siska et al., 2017), primary MSCs or HS-5 were seeded in the insert 1 or 2 days prior to the experiment using supplemented media, ensuring correct cell adhesion. Leukemic cells were seeded into the well at the starting point of the assay, followed by replacing the media in the insert (containing the monolayer of MSCs). Assay media or transient ASNase media was used to culture the cells. The working volumes of the BM model were determined according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Transient ASNase media was prepared by treating RPMI 1640 medium (Thermo Fisher Scientific) with *Escherichia coli* ASNase (Medac, Wedel, Germany) for 5 hours, and then the drug was filtered out using a PierceTM Protein Concentrator PES membrane (polyethersulfone) with cut-off 5 kDa (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA). The medium was prepared fresh and supplemented before each experiment and checked for drug absence using an ASNase activity assay kit (Sigma–Aldrich, Schnellforf, Germany) or a cell proliferation assay.

#### 3.2 Stable isotope tracing

Stable isotope tracing was required to develop the hypothesis (Publication 1) and confirm the results (Publication 4) of the studies of this dissertation thesis. The author of this investigation project did the optimization and experimental performance.

After culturing adherent or suspension cells with the labeled isotope of interest, the culture media and cells were collected, immediately followed by the metabolite extraction (Hollinshead et al., 2018). Adherent cells were washed twice with 1ml of 0.9% NaCl in PierceTM Water, high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) grade (Thermo Fisher,).

The second wash included 0.5% trypsin (Thermo Fisher) to detach the cells. Suspension and detached adherent cells were centrifuged to form cell pellets at 4°C. Before the previous step, the cells were counted for data normalization. Cell pellets were carefully washed with a salt solution (0.9% NaCl in Pierce<sup>TM</sup> Water, HPLC grade, Thermo Scientific), without disturbing the pellet. The washed pellet was immediately resuspended thoroughly with 500µl of metabolism quenching reagent (Honeywell<sup>TM</sup> methanol, Thermo Fisher, pre-chilled -20°C). Samples in methanol suspension were transferred to new vials, mixed 5:2 ratio with internal standard solution (IS,  $2.5\mu g/\mu l$  of D-glutaric in HPLC grade water, pre-chilled 4°C) and vortex. Subsequently, HPLC grade chloroform (Honeywell<sup>TM</sup>, Thermo Fisher, pre-chilled 4°C) was added in a 7:5 ratio, followed by sample vortex for 10 minutes at 4°C. The sample was centrifuged at 13000rcf for 10 minutes at 4°C to collect the upper supernatant (polar phase). As part of the sample preparation for gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GS-MS) measurement, metabolites extracted samples were evaporated in SpeedVac SPD1030 – Integrated Vacuum Concentrator (Savant, Hyannis, Massachusetts, USA).

In the case of extracting metabolites from media,  $200\mu$ l of the cultured media was mixed in 1:4 ratio with acetone: isopropanol (2:1, pre-chilled at -20°C) and centrifuged (13000rcf, 5 min., 4°C). 400 µl of the supernatant was transferred in a new vial and mixed in a ratio 4:2:3:5:5 with IS solution, water, methanol and chloroform. From this step, samples were processed as the extraction protocol for cells.

Samples were manipulated in ice for the whole metabolite extraction process and stored at -80°C till their measurement by GS-MS. Details on polar metabolite derivatization and data acquisition can be found in Kl'učková and colleagues (Kl'učková et al., 2020). Data analysis and interpretation were performed by the author of this dissertation.

#### 3.3 Metabolism analysis using Seahorse analyzer

Metabolism analysis in these studies was required to assess glycolysis and mitochondrial respiration parameters in leukemic cells (publications 2 and 3), and metabolic phenotype identification (publication 4). The author of this dissertation performed the metabolism analysis test in primary cells from ALL patients (publication 2). Moreover, the optimization and performance of the Cell Energy Phenotype Test in transfected BMC c-kit cells were another of the author's tasks (publication 4).

Seahorse Analyzer XFp (Agilent Technologies, Inc., CA, USA) measures the extracellular cellular acidification rate (ECAR) and oxygen consumption rate (OCR) of cells in real time. ECAR represents glycolysis, and the glycolysis stress test combines the

measurement of these parameters in basal and stress conditions. OCR represents mitochondrial respiration flux, and its function is assessed similarly to glycolytic flux. Metabolic phenotype test simultaneously measures both ECAR and OCR, and ECAR/OCR ratio identifies which pathway the cells use the most.

For the Glycolysis stress test, cells were seeded in Agilent XF Roswell Park Memorial Institute Medium (RPMI) base medium, pH 7.4, and for the Cell mito stress test, cells were seeded in XF Assay medium (10 mM glucose, 1 mM 4-(2-hydrozyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES), 2mM Gln, 1 mM pyruvate, 0.1% Bovine serum albumin (BSA) and pH 7.4). The cells were plated in XFp tissue culture plates coated with CellTak (Corning GmbH, Wiesbaden, Germany), according to the Agilent Seahorse protocol for seeding suspension cells. During the glycolysis stress test, cells were treated with 10 mM glucose, 2  $\mu$ M of oligomycin A and 100 mM 2-deoxy glucose (2-DG), one by one and assessing ECAR after each injection. The injection drugs in cell mito stress test were 2  $\mu$ M oligomycin A, 3 and 4.5  $\mu$ M of carbonylcyanide p-trifluoromethoxyphenylhydrazone (FCCP, two injections) and 1  $\mu$ M rotenone combined with 1  $\mu$ g/ml antimycin A.

Cell density and FCCP concentration were optimized for the Cell Energy Phenotype Test prior to the first measurement according to Agilent Seahorse protocols. Cells were seeded in coated tissue culture plates using Agilent XF RPMI Assay medium (pH 7.4, 10mM glucose, 2mM Gln, 1mM pyruvate). The inhibitors established by the protocol were injected in a unique injection ( $2\mu$ M oligomycin and  $2\mu$ M FCCP). Data analysis and interpretation were performed by the author of this dissertation, following the manufacturer's instructions.

#### 4. RESULTS

# 4.1 Explore the pro-survival metabolic processes of leukemic cells upon ASNase treatment in the BM microenvironment

*i)* <u>Alquezar-Artieda N</u>, Kuzilkova D, Roberts J, Hlozkova K, Pecinova A et al. Restored biosynthetic pathways induced by MSCs serve as rescue mechanism in leukemia cells after L-asparaginase therapy. Blood adv. 2023; 10:2228

<u>Author's contribution</u>: As the first author of this study, I planned, optimized, and executed all the experiments. Moreover, I performed statistical data analysis and actively participated in manuscript writing.

This work was a continuation of the study of Hermanova et al., which demonstrated that ASNase treatment disturbs the cellular metabolism of pre-B leukemic cells. The metabolic disturbance was described as a shift in the energy metabolism, and an inhibition in the biosynthetic pathways of leukemic cells. The latter corresponded explicitly to protein and pyrimidine synthesis, which are regulated by mTOR. This intracellular mechanism of action of ASNase was reported in a conventional *in vitro* model, which does not consider one of the hallmarks of cancers: the tumor microenvironment (Hanahan, 2022). Therefore, in this study, we expanded our *in vitro* model to mimic certain aspects of the BM environment. Our aim in using it was to confirm mentioned changes in the cellular metabolism of leukemic cells and reveal new mechanisms with the potential to impair ASNase efficacy.

The included features of the BM environment model were: the BM matrix, hypoxic environment and the transient presence of ASNase simulating the drug's half-life *in vivo*. Some of them are known to induce cancer cell proliferation (Ede et al., 2018; Ehsanipour et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2019; Pillozzi et al., 2011; Polak et al., 2015). Using transwell inserts, we mimicked the BM matrix by co-culturing the leukemic cell lines (REH, NALM-6, RS4:11 and SUP-B15) with MSCs. The cultures were exposed to hypoxic environment conditions and compared to normoxia. The half-life of ASNase was achieved by transient ASNase treatment. The latter was prepared by applying the ASNase treatment in RPMI medium and drug subsequent withdrawal to exclude the constant depletion of Asn and Gln in the BM model.

Indeed, the BM environment model increased pre-B leukemic cell survival after ASNase treatment compared to the conventional *in vitro* model. The increased survival was not higher when applying low levels of oxygen. As the hypoxia condition did not have any benefit, we excluded it from the BM environment model and used only the normoxic conditions. The metabolic disturbance of leukemic cells observed in the original in vitro model after ASNase treatment persisted in the presence of MSCs. However, inhibition of protein and pyrimidine synthesis was significantly less profound when leukemic cells were cultured with MSCs. Protein and pyrimidine synthesis pathways were evaluated by their markers: the phosphorylated forms of S6 and CAD, which are downstream proteins of mTORC1/S6K1. The results suggested that the partial restoration of those pathways might cause increased leukemic cell survival in the BM model. We confirmed that phosphorylated S6 (p-S6) was also partially restored in primary leukemic cells when co-cultured with MSCs and treated with ASNase. Primary leukemic cells were isolated from pediatric patients with BCP-ALL. Given the known role of Asn in activating mTOR, we hypothesized that MSCs might release Asn into the extracellular environment and reactivate the mTOR signaling pathway of leukemic cells after the treatment (Meng et al., 2020). Noteworthy, healthy cells, including MSCs, should be able to synthesize Asn, while leukemic cells are not capable of that. As a consequence, this deficiency makes them particularly sensitive to ASNase treatment.

To pursue the assumption, we used stable isotope tracing to evaluate the Asn flux coming from MSCs following a three-step workflow. First, we applied Asn starvation to MSCs and supplemented them with labeled Gln (15N-Gln) for 7 days (Figure 10A). That way, we forced MSCs to *de novo* Asn synthesis using 15N-Gln and produce 15N-Asn (Figure 10B). Second, MSCs containing 15N-Asn were cultured in medium simulating ASNase treatment (without Asn and a limited concentration of Gln, Figure 10A)(Chiu et al., 2021). After 48 hours, we observed that Asn was present in the culture medium of MSCs, and from it 11.67%±0.57 was labeled. Third, independently of the first and second steps, we cultured leukemic cells in the presence and absence of MSCs with labeled Asn in the culture media (Figure 10C). NALM-6 in both cultures had 94% of intracellular Asn labeled after 24 hours. The first and second steps confirmed that in Asn-free culture conditions MSCs synthetized and released Asn, while the third step demonstrated that leukemic cells take up any available Asn.


Figure 10. Stable isotope tracing workflow

To validate that MSCs restored p-S6 and p-CAD protein levels of treated leukemic cells by releasing Asn, we supplemented leukemic cells undergoing ASNase treatment with increasing concentrations of Asn. Then, we performed an 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium(MTS) assay and western blot to quantify p-S6 and p-CAD. Asn supplementation rescued leukemic cell proliferation and restored the mTOR signaling pathway. By using a co-treatment of mTOR inhibitor (rapamycin) and ASNase, the increased survival induced by MSCs was diminished. Results confirmed the key role of protein and nucleotide synthesis in the rescue mechanism using the BM microenvironment. The fact that MSCs replenished Asn in the BM environment model was also reflected in the stress levels of leukemic cells. Since AAs depletion was not complete in the co-culture, the markers of amino acid stress response (CHOP, SLC38A2 and Asn transporters) of leukemic cells were not induced as detected in the monoculture. Moreover, the indiscriminate amino acid uptake caused by ASNase in the traditional *in vitro* model was also not induced in the co-culture.

# 4.2 Study of the basal metabolic profile of leukemic cells in the cellular response to ASNase treatment

*ii) Hlozkova K, Pecinova A, <u>Alquezar-Artieda N</u>, et al. Metabolic profile of leukemia cells influences treatment efficacy of l-asparaginase. BMC Cancer. 2020;20:526* 

<u>Author's contribution</u>: In this study, I have analyzed all primary samples from newly diagnosed leukemia patients. After receiving the sample from the diagnostic department, I optimized *ex vivo* culture conditions for leukemic primary cells. Moreover, primary leukemic cells were frozen and collected in pellets as a reservoir for future experiments. I measured the cells' glycolysis and mitochondrial respiration activity on the Seahorse analyzer. Moreover, I seeded the primary leukemic cells for MTS assay, by which the ASNase sensitivity was determined.

In this project, we explored the metabolic predisposition of leukemic cells of different hematopoietic lineage and its relation to therapy response.

Using a Seahorse analyzer and radioactivity assays, we initiated the study by characterization of the basal metabolic state of 19 human leukemia cell lines. From the selected cell lines, 8 were BCP-ALL (ALL derived from B-lymphoid lineage; 1 BCP-ALL originated from a CML blast crisis), 4 were T-ALL (ALL derived from T-lymphoid lineage) and 7 were of myeloid origin (5 AML; 2 CML blast crisis manifesting as AML). The first method measures glycolysis, mitochondrial function and metabolic phenotype of our cells through different types of tests. Metabolic phenotype is determined by ECAR/OCR ratio. The radioactive assay was used to determine fatty acid oxidation based on the measurement of the oxidation of [<sup>3</sup>H]-palmitate. All the information about the metabolic processes of each cell line was applied to a hierarchical clustering analysis (HCA) that grouped cell lines based on their similar characteristics. The analysis based on glycolysis and mitochondrial function activity grouped the cell lines sharing the same hematopoietic lineage in two differentiated clusters. BCP-ALL cell lines were found in the first cluster with low glycolytic and cell respiration activity. The second group contained myeloid leukemia and T-ALL cell lines with high glycolytic and cell respiration values. The separation had some exceptions. HPB-ALL, a T-ALL cell line, clustered with BCP-ALL, while Nalm-6 and BV-173 (BCP-ALL cell lines) fell with the AML/T-ALL cell line group. Fatty acid oxidation activity was different between the cell lines sharing the same hematopoietic lineage origin and did not cluster the patients as the other metabolic pathways.

Then, we evaluated the major signaling pathways of 15 leukemic cell lines (6 BCP-ALL, 4 T-ALL and 5 AML) by quantifying their marker's protein level (western blot). BCP-ALLs, which mainly formed the first cluster, showed lower levels of phosphorylated Akt (p-Akt) than T-ALL, decreased levels of phosphorylated glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta (GSK-3 beta) and S6 compared to AML, and a different expression of c-myc compared to T-ALL. GSK-3B is a negative regulator of glycogen synthesis, and S6 is a downstream protein of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway. Moreover, there was no difference in p-AMPK, a modulator of cellular energy homeostasis.

In order to demonstrate whether a specific metabolic profile would interfere with ASNase treatment, we correlated the parameters of metabolic pathways of analyzed leukemic cells with their sensitivity to ASNase using Canonical correlation analysis. The latter evaluates the relationship between 2 multivariate sets of variables. First, we assessed the sensitivity to the cytostatic drug by MTS assay. Myeloid cell lines were less sensitive to ASNase, followed by T-ALLs and identified BCP-ALLs as the most sensitive ones. The results showed a correlation between higher sensitivity to ASNase and: (1) lower basal respiration, (2) higher ATP-linked respiration and (3) higher ECAR/OCR ratio. High ATP-linked respiration was functionally validated through its inhibitor, oligomycin A. We pretreated leukemic cells (2 B-ALLs, 2 T-ALLs and 1 AMLs) with oligomycin A for 1 hour before treating them with ASNase, and observed that the ASNase sensitivity was decreased using the combined treatment. Inhibition of mitochondrial respiration using antimycin A (ETC complex III inhibitor) did not affect the ASNase sensitivity of tested cell lines.

Given that oligomycin A treatment was reported to increase mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP)(Perry et al., 2011), we additionally measured it in 10 human leukemic cells (3 BCP-ALL, 4 T-ALL and 3 B-ALL). The MMP was determined using flow cytometry after staining the cells with tetramethylrhodamine ethyl ester perchlorate (TMRE) fluorescence. In our measured cell lines, the TMRE fluorescence correlated with ASNase response, meaning that leukemic cells with higher TMRE fluorescence had lower sensitivity to ASNase. TMRE is usually proportional to MMP and mitochondrial mass. The latter did not correlate with TMRE fluorescence were given by changes in the MMP and not mitochondrial mass (measured through mtDNA). In sum, higher MMP was associated with lower sensitivity to ASNase. To confirm our results about the metabolic profile of leukemic cells, we next measured the glycolytic and mitochondrial function, as well as sensitivity to ASNase in primary cells. Particularly, we included primary cells isolated from 26 childhood leukemia patients (15 BCP-ALL, 7 T-ALL, 4 AML, 1 T/Myelo) and 2 healthy controls (B-ALL, mononuclear cells). In contrast to the cluster analysis of cell lines, primary leukemic cells only showed slight separation by their leukemia lineage when applying glycolytic parameters. The cells were separated into two clusters. Specifically, AMLs, the T/Myelo patient and healthy controls were grouped in the same cluster, which had increased parameters of glycolysis. However, B-ALLs and T-ALLs were heterogeneously divided between the two clusters, showing both high and low glycolytic parameters. Importantly, the cluster with low glycolytic parameters showed the BCP-ALLs and T-ALLs with high sensitivity to ASNase treatment.

## 4.3 Investigate PTEN mutations or aberrant PI3K/Akt pathway in T-ALL in the ASNase sensitivity and glucose metabolism

*iii) Hlozkova K, Hermanova I, Safrhansova L, <u>Alquezar-Artieda N,</u> et al. PTEN/PI3K/Akt pathway alters sensitivity of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia to l-asparaginase. Sci. Rep. 2022;12(1):.* 

<u>Author's contribution</u>: As co-author of this study, I was responsible for subculturing T-ALL cell lines and analyzed changes on the ASNase sensitivity after Akt inhibition using MTS assay. In addition, I collected the primary leukemic cells from pediatric patients with T-ALL to evaluated p-Akt expression by mass cytometer (CyTOF), and the cytotoxicity of the co-treatment of ASNase with p-Akt inhibitor.

This study was elaborated on the results obtained by Hlozkova and colleagues (publication 3), summarized in Section 4.2. The results showed that T-ALL cell lines and primary cells from T-ALL patients clustered into both high and low glycolytic activity groups, accordingly to their ASNase sensitivities. Moreover, T-ALL showed a generally high expression of p-Akt. P-Akt is negatively regulated by PTEN, which is mutated in approximately 20% of all pediatric T-ALL cases (Jenkinson et al., 2016; Szarzyńska-Zawadzka et al., 2019). PTEN abnormalities are usually present in T-ALL cases with

unfavorable long-term outcomes (Bandapalli et al., 2013; Paganin et al., 2018; Tesio et al., 2017). Therefore, this study aims to elucidate the connection between PTEN deletion, ASNase sensitivity and glucose metabolism.

We first evaluated five human T-ALL cell lines with respect to their ASNase sensitivity and glycolytic function. CCRF-CEM, JURKAT and MOLT-4 were more resistant to ASNase and showed higher glycolytic function than ALL-SIL and DND-41, which were sensitive to the drug. Their protein expression assessed by western blot showed that the ASNase-resistant group had higher Akt activation due to the lack of PTEN protein expression. In contrast, sensitive T-ALL cell lines did not have Akt activation because they expressed PTEN. Moreover, the latter group expressed truncated cleaved-NOTCH1 (activated form of NOTCH1), while resistant cell lines had their wild-type protein. However, NOTCH1 expression did not reflect any pattern between the resistant and sensitive groups of cells. NOTCH1 was tested because its signaling depends on the PTEN/Akt pathway (Mendes et al., 2016). Despite these differences in Akt activation, the phosphorylation of its downstream proteins, such as p-S6 and p-GSK-3β, did not differ in connection with the ASNase sensitivity. Neither was observed in c-myc expression, the activator of glycolysis (Pavlova et al., 2022). These results made us hypothesize that hyperactivation of Akt makes T-ALL cell lines more resistant to ASNase or that truncated cleaved NOTCH1 increased the sensitivity of PTEN-positive T-ALL to the drug. A truncated form of cleaved-NOTCH1 was already reported in analyzed cells, which was caused by a premature STOP codon that prolonged the half-life of cleaved-NOTCH1 compared to wild-type (Arruga et al., 2014; O'Neil et al., 2006). Previous studies hypothesized that cells with a longer half-life of cleaved-NOTCH1 were dependent on extended active NOTCH1 signaling (Y. Wang et al., 2019).

To elucidate our hypothesis, we evaluated the effect of p-Akt and cleaved-NOTCH1 inhibitors on the ASNase sensitivity of our studied cell lines using the MTS assay. GSK690693 and Ipatasertib were the p-Akt inhibitors used, and  $\gamma$ -secretase inhibitor compound E targeted the cleaved NOTCH1. ASNase sensitivity was significantly increased when PTEN-null T-ALL cell lines were treated with p-Akt inhibitors. By contrast, it remained similar in PTEN-positive T-ALL cell lines, with and without p-Akt inhibitors. The inhibition of the cleaved NOTCH1 did not change the sensitivity to ASNase in studied T-ALL cell lines.

Then, we induced the expression of PTEN in JURKAT, a PTEN-null cell line, to assess the effect of its overexpression on ASNase sensitivity and glucose metabolism. The overexpression of PTEN was performed using an established PTEN-inducible plasmid and stable expression using the pHIV-EGFP plasmid (Xu, Z., et al. 2002). Both overexpression systems showed that PTEN expression sensitized JURKAT cells to ASNase and reduced their glycolysis activity. However, inhibition of Akt was only observed in the inducible model. To confirm it in the stable PTEN expression system, we checked the downstream proteins of p-Akt: p-S6 and p-GSK-3B. Indeed, those proteins were inhibited in JURKAT cells with stable expression of PTEN, which demonstrated that p-Akt was inhibited. Taken together, we confirmed that PTEN deletion in T-ALL cell lines modulates increased glycolysis through hyperactivation of Akt, resulting in a metabolic status more resistant to ASNase treatment.

Finally, we corroborate our results in primary leukemic cells isolated from 9 pediatric patients with T-ALL before starting their treatment. Using western blot, we assessed their protein expression of PTEN and p-Akt. Some of these results were confirmed by RNA seq. Of the nine patients, 2 showed PTEN deletion and hyperactivation of Akt as in our ASNase-resistant cell line model, 2 patients with PTEN expression and p-Akt inhibition as in our ASNase-sensitive cell line model, and 2 patients with hyperactivation of Akt and also PTEN expression. These results suggested that some patients could have similar gene expression regarding PTEN and p-Akt as our cell lines, and benefit from p-Akt inhibitor treatment. Two new patients without PTEN/p-Akt information and two analyzed patients with hyperactivation of Akt were treated with ASNase in combination with a p-Akt inhibitor or monotherapy. One of the selected patients with p-Akt also had PTEN expression. After that, cells were stained using Cisplatin and measured by mass cytometry. Cisplatin staining labels non-viable cells. The combined treatment increased the number of non-viable cells compared to ASNase monotherapy. Taken together, we confirmed that T-ALL patients with activated Akt pathways could benefit from p-Akt inhibitors and improve their outcomes.

# 4.4 Characterize the role of metabolic rewiring in malignant transformation driven by mutated JAK2 kinases identified in *BCR-ABL*-like ALL subgroup

iiii) Lukes J, Potuckova E, <u>Alquezar-Artieda N</u>, et al. Chimeric JAK2 kinases trigger nonuniform changes of cellular metabolism in BCR-ALB1-like childhood ALL. (Under review in HemaSphere). <u>Author's contribution:</u> I performed stable isotope tracing with labeled glucose in transformed Ba/F3 cells, with the goal to validate our observations about the effect of studied genetic translocations in metabolism. Moreover, I developed an additional overexpression models to replicate the results in the Ba/F3 cells. To achieve that, I cloned the aberrant *NPAT/JAK2* sequence into the pWCC19 vector. Moreover, I prepared a lentiviral system to overexpress *NPAT/JAK2* and *PAX5/JAK2* fusion proteins in murine c-kit BMCs (c-kit-positive bone marrow cells). After transduction, I measured their metabolic phenotype using a Seahorse analyzer.

In this study, we wanted to elucidate the role of two Janus Kinase 2 (JAK2) translocations in the metabolic reprogramming occurring during the malignant transformation. Our assumption is that some cancer-driving mutations might be essential in altering cellular metabolism, which would help in developing new therapeutic strategies based on cancer's vulnerabilities. Patients with *JAK2* fusion genes from *BCR-AB1-like* ALL subtype has a poor prognosis (Roberts et al., 2014). This subtype of leukemia has a gene expression profile similar to BCR-ABL1-positive ALL, but does not carry the BCR-ABL1 fusion gene. Most of the leukemias that fall into BCR-ABL-like ALL clusters have aberrant activation of different kinases (ABL, JAK2, etc.). The most common JAK2 mutation in this subgroup is the translocation of *PAX5/JAK2*. Recently, we have identified another translocation, *NPAT/JAK2* (Lühmann et al., 2021). Our aim was to describe NPAT/JAK2 fusion protein in detail, its oncogenic potential, and study the metabolic setting of cells carrying the *JAK2* translocations.

The *NPAT/JAK2* sequence was first transduced into HEK293T cells to confirm the encoded protein. The *NPAT/JAK2* encodes an aberrant protein with an intact JAK2 kinase domain and has a size of 74kDa. The chimeric protein was detected in both the cytoplasm and nucleus, and was phosphorylated on tyrosine Y1007/Y1008 of the wild-type JAK2 structure. When an inactivating mutation in the ATP-binding site of the *JAK2* domain was introduced, the *NPAT/JAK2* failed to be activated. Thus, the chimeric protein was aberrantly phosphorylated because of its mutated *JAK2* domain, which means that its ATP-binding site and catalytic function were preserved.

To study the impact of phosphorylated chimeric protein on the JAK/STAT signaling pathway, and its oncogenic potential, we transduced *NPAT/JAK2* and *PAX5/JAK2* in IL-3-dependent Ba/F3 murine hematopoietic cell line, used for Ba/F3 transformation assay (Kong et al., 2017). *PAX5/JAK2* translocation was already shown to have oncogenic potential and

we used it in our project as a representative of most frequent *JAK2* aberration in ALL (Jurado et al., 2022). IL-3-dependent Ba/F3 cell model identifies tumor-driving mutations. If the transduced cells show pro-survival and proliferation capacity after IL-3 withdrawal, cells carry tumor-driving mutation. Indeed, transformed cells with NPAT/JAK2 and PAX5/JAK2 fusion proteins became independent of IL-3, showing their oncogenic potential. Of note, cells with NPAT/JAK2 fusion protein showed faster IL-3-independent growth and transformation than those with PAX5/JAK2. Using western blot, we observed that both transformed cell lines showed increased phosphorylation of STAT1, STAT3 and STAT5. However, STAT3 phosphorylation was lower in PAX5/JAK2 transformed cells. Furthermore, STAT phosphorylation and proliferation were decreased after treating the cells with the JAK2 inhibitor, ruxolitinib. These results indicate that the *NPAT/JAK2* had a stronger oncogenic potential than *PAX5/JAK2*, and its chimeric protein successfully activated the JAK/STAT signaling pathway.

The metabolic phenotype of transformed cells with two *JAK2* translocations was assessed using the Seahorse analyzer, specifically the Cell Energy Phenotype Test. Compared to the phenotype of the parental cell lines, the *NPAT/JAK2*-transformed cells became more energetic, while the *PAX5/JAK2*-transformed cells were more quiescent. A shift to energetic phenotype means that cells use more glycolysis and mitochondrial respiration, and a quiescent shift is in the opposite direction, meaning less activity of both processes. Stress conditions applied in both transformed cell lines increased their glycolytic and mitochondrial function. However, the stressed metabolic phenotype of the *PAX5/JAK2*-transformed cells did not reach the non-stressed parental cell line phenotype. These results suggested that *NPAT/JAK2* and *PAX5/JAK2* transforming capacity depends on tumor-metabolic rewiring.

Then, we evaluated the mentioned dependencies by measuring cell proliferation when treated with the glycolysis inhibitor, 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG). The proliferation of *NPAT/JAK2*-transformed cells was drastically inhibited by 2-DG, while PAX/JAK2-transformed cells were less affected by the inhibitor. When we used stable labeled glucose in the culture of transformed cells, we observed that *NPAT/JAK2*-transformed cells oxidized more glucose than *PAX5/JAK2*-transformed cells. Regardless of these differences, both transformed cell lines showed increased ATP production and NAD/NADH ratio compared to parental cell lines.

Even though the Ba/F3 transformation assay is a well-established method, we wanted to confirm the metabolic rewiring induced by the two JAK2 translocations in another model. Therefore, we transduced them in murine c-kit bone marrow cells (c-kit BMCs). New model confirmed that *NPAT/JAK2* transforming capacity increased glycolysis and mitochondrial function, while *PAX5/JAK2* decreased these processes.

#### 5. DISCUSSION

Treating pediatric ALL becomes challenging once the patients relapse (15-20%). In such a case, their treatment options and prognosis drastically deteriorate. The secondary therapy for relapsed patients is a re-induction treatment consisting mostly of the same chemotherapeutic agents from the primary treatment and HCT (Hunger & Raetz, 2020). However, leukemic cells isolated from early relapsed patients carry mutations that reduce their sensitivity to front-line chemotherapeutic agents (Meyer et al., 2013; Peters et al., 2015). Moreover, not all relapse patients are good candidates for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation since it requires low or null MRD levels (Kuhlen et al., 2018).

All these facts cause a disappointing overall survival rate after secondary treatment, which accounts for 20-50% (Q. N. Nguyen et al., 2015; Oskarsson et al., 2016). Therefore, the best chance to further enhance the overall survival of ALL is the improvement of the primary therapy before chemoresistance development. Ideally, a successful primary therapy will eradicate the resistant cell population already present at diagnosis that causes the treatment failure. In this dissertation, we propose two significant approaches building on the cellular metabolism of leukemic cells that might improve the outcome of the patients. The first approach would be the combination of the current chemotherapy with therapeutic drugs targeting salvage metabolic events in leukemic cells after ASNase treatment. The second approach would be using the metabolic state of leukemic cells as a prognostic factor for possible secondary classification of non-responsive patients. Ultimately, we aim to propose precise tailoring of the treatment.

Changes in the cellular metabolism of leukemic cells are implicated in resistant development to particular chemotherapeutic drugs. Such a phenomenon is called metabolic rewiring, which is a metabolic adaptation that promotes the survival of cells. For instance, enhanced glycolysis was observed in some subtypes of T-ALL that were resistant to Daunorubicin (Stäubert et al., 2015). As well as upregulated glycolysis counteracted tyrosine kinases inhibitors (imatinib) in chronic myelogenous leukemia. Furthermore, OXPHOS became essential to acquire resistance to imatinib and cytarabine in chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells and acute myeloid leukemia, respectively. Another metabolic pathway, FAO was reported to rescue ALL of ASNase cytotoxicity (I Hermanova et al., 2016). Cytarabine, daunorubicin and ASNase are chemotherapeutic drugs in the conventional ALL treatment. Metabolism is clearly implicated in the long-term survival of leukemic cells. Evaluation of the metabolism at the moment of diagnosis and after relapse will promote the development of new strategies for non-responsive ALL patients. One example is metformin,

an inhibitor of OXPHOS, that demonstrates a large apoptotic effect on leukemic cells in ALL, chronic lymphoblastic leukemia and leukemia-initiating cell population (Bruno et al., 2015; Grimaldi et al., 2012; Leclerc et al., 2013; Rodríguez-Lirio et al., 2015)

### 5.1 Novel therapeutic targets raised from the understanding of ASNase driven resistant mechanism leading to relapsed leukemia

The improvement of the primary treatment cannot be achieved only from the dosage changes of the conventional chemotherapeutic agents. To date, the increased overall survival rate of ALL treatment was mainly due to dose adjustment based on the risk of relapse. The latter is determined by the prognosis factors, which stratify the patients into risk groups after the initial part of the treatment, called induction phase. The high-risk patients which have increased a probability of treatment failure receive more intensive therapy. Noteworthy, the current treatment cannot be further intensified. The cytostatic drugs' intensity and dosage in the high-risk regimen have already reached the maximum threshold of toxicity. Experts cautioned that escalating the dosage of chemotherapeutic agents could result in intolerable adverse side effects with limited benefits (Inaba & Pui, 2021). Therefore, the new strategy is to combine conventional chemotherapy with small molecules targeting the pathological mechanisms observed in leukemic cells (Diaz-Flores et al., 2019; Khaw et al., 2014; Tanasi et al., 2019).

The assumption is that relapse in ALL is caused by the presence of single or multiple chemoresistant clones. Due to the chemotherapy pressure, the clone is selected and becomes dominant. Relapse clones can derive from major or minor subpopulations existing already at diagnosis, derived from initiation pre-leukemic cells or chemoresistance acquisition. Moreover, the survival of resistant clones can be favored by attenuating the dosage intensity of the chemotherapy for patients suffering from adverse side effects. One of the strategies to decrease the survival of chemoresistant clones is to therapeutically target the resistant mechanism by which cells escape from the toxicity of the chemotherapeutic drugs. Thus, combinations of front-line cytostatic drugs with inhibitors of drug-resistant mechanisms are an active area of investigation (Ramos et al., 2021).

Among the conventional chemotherapeutic drugs, improving the efficacy of ASNase treatment is more promising than other drugs. ASNase cytotoxicity has a selective effect on leukemic cells. Hence, it does not have excessive long-term side effects that will impair the quality of survivors'life ASNase is a non-invasive agent since it depletes essential metabolic nutrients (Asn and Gln) in an extracellular manner. Moreover, ASNase treatment is quite potent as a monotherapy. It can achieve an inhibition of approximately 60% of leukemia growth (Haskell, 1969; Jaffe et al., 1971; Tallal et al., 1970)

It has already been described that B-ALL cells can adapt their metabolic phenotype to counteract ASNase treatment (I Hermanova et al., 2016). Leukemic cells decreased glycolysis and increased FAO. Since electron carriers are compensated with FAO activation, OXPHOS function remained similar upon ASNase treatment. Using an FAO inhibitor, Hermanova et al demonstrated that leukemic cells could survive ASNase treatment by depending on FAO. In order to further validate the potential of FAO as a therapeutic target, it was necessary to measure resistant metabolic phenotype within the BM niche. Accordingly, ALL patients do relapse the most at this site, accounting for 38.5% (Tuong et al., 2020).

BM environment becomes leukemia-permissive after malignant transformation. The non-hematopoietic cells in this site were demonstrated to be implicated in chemoresistance development. In particular, MSCs are the cell type with more studies proving its association with resistant mechanism (Atsushi Manabe et al., 1994). The MSCs contact helped to induce vincristine resistance in B-ALL by the mutual activation of nuclear factor kappa B (Jacamo et al., 2014). The resistance to cytarabine, tyrosine kinase inhibitors and corticoids in ALL were modulated by the activation of signaling pathways induced by BM-MSCs. The first two types of chemoresistance were caused by abnormal Wnt signaling/B catenin, while corticoids resistance was linked with notch signaling (K. Hu et al., 2015; Kamdje et al., 2011; X. Liu et al., 2013; Mudry et al., 2000). Moreover, MSCs transferred their healthy mitochondria to ALL blasts that replaced the damaged organelles by the redox stress. The mitochondrial replacement was involved with daunomycin and cytarabine resistance (Burt et al., 2019; Polak et al., 2015; Usmani et al., 2019)

In the case of ASNase chemoresistance, MSCs were reported to increase the ASNS expression and supply Asn to ALL (Dimitriou et al., 2014; Iwamoto & Mihara, 2007). Herein, we demonstrated that mentioned Asn restored biosynthetic pathways regulated by mTORC1/S6K1 in pre-B ALL undergoing ASNase treatment (Publication 1). Asn was already reported to be one of the amino acids regulating the mTOR pathway (Meng et al., 2020). As a result of mTOR restoration, leukemic cell survival was sustained by BM model, and the intrinsic metabolic rewiring of the blasts effectively countered ASNase cytotoxicity (I Hermanova et al., 2016). Indeed, MSCs compensated for depleted Asn, which otherwise effectively induced apoptosis in leukemic cells. A similar reduction of efficient cytotoxicity

of the drugs is found in cancer with upregulated ABC transporters, which efflux the therapeutic drug from intracellular space. As a consequence, the therapeutic drug does not reach optimal concentration, and cancers becomes resistant (Kadioglu et al., 2020).

The described mechanism concerning ASNase did not require cell-to-cell contact, unlike other resistant mechanisms induced by MSCs using N-cadherins adhere binding (Nygren et al., 2009). Therefore, we measured the released Asn from MSCs in monoculture. By stable isotope tracing, we confirmed that Asn was released from MSCs to the extracellular medium and taken up by leukemic cells treated with ASNase (Publication 1). Showing the labeled Asn transfer between MSCs and the leukemic cells in a unique experiment was challenging due to isotope tracing limitations. The transferred amount of Asn is expected to be very low and immediately used by the leukemic cells for the biosynthetic pathway. In concordance, we observed that 3µM of Asn was sufficient to increase the survival of treated leukemic cells upon ASNase treatment. Thus, the transferred Asn is beyond the detection level of the method (Publication 1).

Noteworthy, the advantage of the BM model in this study was the simulation of the half-life of ASNase *in vivo*, which is approximately a day and a half. After this period, it is not ensured that Asn and Gln are still completely depleted. These conditions were mimicked in the BM model by a pre-treated media. This was prepared by treating the culture media with ASNase to exhaust its target amino acids, followed by the withdrawal of the drug using centrifugation. Without this approach, the effect of MSCs on the biosynthetic pathways could have been hidden.

The hypoxic environment was initially included in the BM model. Nevertheless, hypoxic conditions induced similar survival of pre-B ALL cells after ASNase treatment compared to normoxia. The comparable results were probably caused by the fact that hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) and ASNase inhibits the TCA cycle. HIF-1 inhibits the TCA cycle to regulate the metabolic shift that allows cell survival under low-oxygen conditions (Tennant & Gottlieb, 2010). After clarification of hypoxia's effect on the survival of leukemic cells after ASNase, we did not include this condition in further experiments.

Indeed, the MSCs-induced mechanism gives leukemic cells an advantage to counteract ASNase treatment. However, it partially depends on the efficiency of the intrinsic pro-survival mechanisms in leukemic cells. In addition to the FAO-dependent resistant mechanism described above (I Hermanova et al., 2016), Kang et al. demonstrated that leukemic cells could acquire ASNase resistance by losing the opioid receptor  $\mu$ 1 (OPRM1). This gene is required for the apoptotic induction orchestrated by ASNase treatment (Kang

et al., 2017; C. Lee et al., 2021). A similar apoptotic inhibition effect was observed in leukemic cells lacking Huntington-associated protein 1 gene (HAP1). The deletion of HAP1 prevents the Ca<sup>2+</sup> release from the endoplasmic reticulum, causing the downregulation of the Calpain-1-Bid-caspase-3/12 pathway and apoptosis inhibition (J. Lee et al., 2019). Another mechanism involved with ASNase resistance was the downregulation of the Wnt pathway. The blockage of this pathway causes the degradation of proteins through GSK3-dependent protein ubiquitination and proteasome, which supply Asn to leukemic cells treated with ASNase (Hinze et al., 2019).

Moreover, the second paper presented in the dissertation demonstrated a combination of metabolic features correlated with ASNase resistance development. Those mentioned features are: high glycolytic flux, low ATP-linked respiration and high MMP (publication 2).

Firstly, we identified high glycolytic flux in the leukemic cell lines and primary cells isolated from ALL patients that were resistant to ASNase treatment. Secondly, the feature of low ATP-linked respiration (low ATP synthetase activity) was correlated with the resistant phenotype. Indeed, treatment with oligomycin A (ATP synthetase inhibitor) led the leukemic cells to become more resistant to ASNase treatment. These results confirmed the association between low ATP synthetase activity and resistance to ASNase treatment. The low function of ATP synthetase in the mitochondria was also reported in resistance to 5fluorouracil in colorectal carcinoma cells (Shin et al., 2005). Reduced ASNase sensitivity in our results is probably connected with the low dependency of this phenotype on the TCA cycle. Therefore, they were less affected by the depletion of Gln, the substrate of the TCA cycle. As stated, Gln is depleted by ASNase treatment. We assume that leukemic cells with high glycolytic flux synthesize enough ATP through this pathway to depend on ATP synthetase function. Therefore, the mitochondria activity is minimal and requires fewer electron carriers generated in the TCA cycle (Bartman et al., 2023)(Publication 2). Thirdly, higher MMP, a key indicator of mitochondrial activity (Van Blerkom et al., 2003), correlated with higher resistance to ASNase treatment. This finding might seem controversial concerning the phenotype described above. However, there is another explanation. Not only the electron carriers from the TCA cycle can fuel the mitochondrial ETC, but FAO also generates electron carriers that enter the ETC (Carracedo et al., 2013). Therefore, ASNaseresistant leukemic cells can have a low TCA cycle and high mitochondria activity.

In the next article, we focused on the differences between ASNase-resistant and – sensitive T-ALLs cell lines. We demonstrated the involvement of Akt and its downstream

pathways in the resistance to ASNase (publication 3). Akt is part of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway that prompts cell growth and survival of cells (Pulido, 2015). It is negatively regulated by the tumor suppressor PTEN (Evangelisti et al., 2018; Fruman et al., 2017). However, in T-ALL pediatric cohorts, 20% of the cases contain loss-of-function mutations in PTEN. These mutations are associated with a worse prognosis and outcome in cancers, including leukemia (Bandapalli et al., 2013; Jenkinson et al., 2016; Paganin et al., 2018; Szarzyńska-Zawadzka et al., 2019; Tesio et al., 2017). In this dissertation, we demonstrated that the activation of Akt (phosphorylated form) induced glycolytic activity in leukemic cells and primary cells isolated from T-ALL patients. A Similar effect was previously reported in other cancers as well (Carnero et al., 2008). Furthermore, the evidence provided in this dissertation revealed that leukemic cells with aberrant Akt become less sensitive to ASNase, with the involvement of higher glycolysis flux.

In the case of T-ALL patients, the activation of Akt was not always related directly to the presence of PTEN mutation. This event is probably caused by some other mutations within the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway that phenocopies PTEN loss and deregulates cell growth. A similar situation occurs in endometrial cancers, where aberrations in the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway are detected in 80% of the cases (Cheung et al., 2011). Therefore, Akt hyperactivation rather than PTEN expression could be used as a marker to predict ASNase response in T-ALL. Noteworthy, phosphorylated Akt measurement was assessed by mass cytometry in our study, which could be easily applied to current diagnostic panels.

In this dissertation, the pharmacological inhibition of Akt in combination with ASNase treatment showed to be more efficient in killing the leukemic cells with aberrant Akt. Some Akt inhibitors are currently being tested for hematological malignancies in clinical trials, for instance, GSK2110183 (Guo et al., 2019).

#### 5.2 Leukemia metabolism as a prognostic factor in non-responsive patients

In 2011, Douglas H., & Weinberg R.A recognized energy metabolism as one of the hallmarks of cancer (Hanahan, 2022). Based on that, we proposed to use the metabolic phenotype as a prognostic factor to improve the ALL treatment. Metabolic rewiring follows leukemogenesis as a response to unlimited growth signals. Mentioned changes mainly depend on nutrient availability and genotype. The latter includes the particular genetic aberrations of each patient. As part of the prognostic factors of ALL treatment, the patient's response during the primary therapy is evaluated and includes MRD levels, pharmacogenomics and pharmacodynamics (Inaba & Pui, 2021). However, it does not

predict the particular response of each patient to chemotherapy. Hence, there is a need for a novel parameter to enhance patient stratification, and our data propose that the metabolic predisposition to ASNase treatment emerges as a potential candidate. Noteworthy, new strategies to better stratify AML patients based on their metabolic predisposition were recently presented (Chen et al., 2022; F. Hu et al., 2021; Zhou et al., 2022). They are expected to improve AML outcomes.

ASNase treatment disturbs cellular metabolism. However, since it does not happen in the same way in all leukemic cells, it can influence the sensitivity to ASNase. In this dissertation, we demonstrated that the metabolism of leukemic cells influences response to ASNase treatment. The leukemic cells included in this study were cell lines and primary cells isolated from patients with B-ALL, T-ALL and AML leukemia. Specifically, according to the levels of glycolytic flux, patients clustered into two groups in which also the sensitivity to ASNase was reflected. In the case of the cell lines, the immunophenotype of the cells was reflected in the clustering. B-ALL were in the ASNase-sensitive group, while T-ALL (with one exception) and AML were in the resistant cluster (Publication 2).

The clustered analysis had some exceptions. HPB-ALL, NALM-6 and BV-173 were classified within the cell group with other immunophenotypes. Moreover, the exceptions increased in the cluster analysis of primary leukemic cells. T-ALLs and B-ALLs were heterogeneously distributed between the ASNase-resistant and sensitive groups. These results could imply that B-ALLs, which clustered with T-ALLs could benefit from more intense chemotherapy. Similarly, T-ALLs clustered with B-ALLs could benefit from a lower intensity of chemotherapy, and by that, reducing the risk of relapse derived from chemotherapy toxicity (Publication 2).

Taken together, the immunophenotype of leukemic cells provides a limited prediction concerning their response to ASNase treatment. This evidence has clear implications for the prognosis of ALL. The current patient stratification is sufficient for the majority of subtypes of leukemia. However, the non-responsive patient could benefit from adding the metabolic profile as a possible secondary strategy for patient stratification. The non-responsive patient with the worst prognosis could be detected at the beginning of the primary chemotherapy (Hunger & Mullighan, 2015a). At this time, a metabolic phenotype study could be implemented and modify the chemotherapy regimen (Publication 2).

Even when the results provided by this dissertation indicate that glycolytic flux itself could predict the response of leukemic cells to ASNase treatment, a complete evaluation of the metabolic phenotype is required. Leukemia is a heterogeneous disease formed by subclonal populations displaying metabolic heterogeneity. Leukemia subclones share essential metabolic features to reach unlimited proliferation and are acquired by different sets of mutations (Elstrom et al., 2004; Flier et al., 1987; Shim et al., 1997). Shared metabolic features enhance the ability to generate energy, synthesize macromolecules and maintain redox homeostasis (DeBarardinis and Chandel, 2016). Their different genetic origins lead them to have different activities of the deregulated metabolic pathway. The variation in activity is combined with unshared and leukemogenesis-irrelevant aberrant pathways and creates metabolic heterogeneity within the leukemic cells population (Fiehn et al., 2016; Gao et al., 2009; Shackelford et al., 2013). Indeed, metabolic heterogeneity has implications for leukemia therapy. As we observed in the comparison of the metabolic phenotype of JAK2 translocations, included in the next study. Malignant transformation of Ba/F3 cells (murine B-progenitors) driven by NPAT/JAK2 translocation was accompanied by a different metabolic setting compared to PAX5/JAK2-transformed Ba/f3 cells (Publication 4). This difference caused that both JAK2 translocations displayed different sensitivities to glycolytic inhibition. The lower dependency on glycolysis of PAX5/JAK2-transformed cells suggests a different balance between the metabolic pathways in these cells. As a result, PAX5/JAK2transformed cells probably have other metabolic vulnerabilities compared to NPAT/JAK2cells.

The estimation of the metabolic phenotype of leukemic cells cannot be done solely according the genetic characterization. The results showed that *JAK2* translocations with oncogenic potential carrying different fusion partners led to different metabolic rewiring. The novel fusion *NPAT/JAK2* found in *BCR-ABL1*-like ALL induced increased glycolysis and mitochondrial respiration activity. A similar effect of JAK2 activating mutation was reported in an *in vivo* model of myeloproliferative neoplasms (Rao et al., 2019). In the case of *PAX5/JAK2*, transformed cells displayed lower glycolysis and mitochondrial respiration, adopting a more quiescent phenotype than NPAT/JAK2-transformed cells. *PAX5/JAK2* translocation causes slow proliferation and weaker transforming capacity in cells than *NPAT/JAK2* mutation.

In summary, metabolic heterogeneity could be observed from cells sharing the same chimeric protein, JAK2, which drives the malignant transformation (Publication 4). Patients with these translocations could be treated similarly in the conventional patient stratification. As a result, it could increase the risk of relapse in some of these variants. Indeed, every tumor has a unique metabolomics signature, as demonstrated in a large study with patient-derived melanoma xenografts (Shi et al., 2017)

Noteworthy, multiple scenarios could cause differences in the metabolism profile between both fusions genes expressing *JAK2*. PAX5/JAK2-transformed cells have lower glycolytic function given the suppression of its STAT3 signaling (Marin-Valencia et al., 2012). Another option could be the biological impact of *PAX5* moiety. Wild-type *PAX5* activates the gene expression of genes related to the repression of glucose uptake and energy metabolism (Chan et al., 2017). Since PAX5/JAK2 aberrant protein is detected exclusively in the nucleus, it might have free access to *PAX5* target loci and partially maintain its function (Schinnerl et al., 2015). As a result, glycolysis could be partially inhibited in PAX5/JAK2-transformed cells.

The current leukemia classification, with its therapy implications, reached its plateau. It was adjusted over the years after decades of research and clinical trials with a highefficiency rate (Inaba & Pui, 2021). Nevertheless, it needs to implement new parameters even when they can be challenging, such as cellular metabolism. We propose to use the metabolic profile of non-responding patients as a secondary patient stratification strategy. Incorporating the metabolic phenotype as a prognostic factor in primary patient stratification requires further investigation.

#### 5.3 Study limitation and future perspectives

The studies presented in this dissertation had some limitations. First, Asn transporters inhibition could have been tested for diminishing MSCs support to leukemic cells after ASNase treatment. However, little is known about the Asn transporters and their interactions with other transporters. Second, the study of primary cell samples was biased due to the high amount of material needed to assess all the measurements. As a consequence, we only included the patients with high white blood count and sufficient material in the study. Finally, most studies aimed to elucidate novel targets to improve leukemia chemotherapy. Thus, further investigation is needed to employ them in the current therapeutic approaches, which brings new research opportunities.

For instance, the continuation of the impact of the BM microenvironment in the survival of leukemic cells by applying different BM cell types in the BM model. Indeed, adipocytes were reported to release Gln into the matrix, which potentially counteracts ASNase cytotoxicity (Ehsanipour et al., 2013). Another option is including one by one the BM cell types in order to find synergies boosting leukemic cell survival. Moreover, we could test different strategies to diminish MSCs support, like (i) using the clinical alternative of

rapamycin together with ASNase and observing toxicity in healthy cells, (ii) finding efficient inhibitors for blocking Asn uptake in leukemic cells.

#### 6. CONCLUSIONS

By understanding the metabolism of leukemic cells upon ASNase treatment, we identified several novel metabolic features implicated in resistance. Moreover, we have proposed a re-evaluation of patient stratification using cellular metabolism as a secondary strategy for non-responsive patients. Resistance to ASNase occurs as a result of combined intra- and extracellular factors. The latter is represented by the BM microenvironment that enhances the development of resistance in leukemic cells. When simulating BM microenvironment in vitro, MSCs sustain the biosynthetic pathways of ASNase-treated leukemic cells, which retrieve the intrinsic resistant mechanism of leukemic cells. The efficiency of metabolic rewiring depends on the particular basal metabolic state of treated leukemic cells. Leukemic cells with high glycolytic flux, low ATP-linked respiration and high mitochondrial membrane potential (determined prior to the treatment) displayed lower sensitivity to ASNase. Additionally, ASNase resistance in T-ALL with high glycolytic flux was found in patients with mutated PTEN or PI3K/Akt pathway. Akt inhibitor combined with ASNase in patients with hyperactivated Akt kinase was indeed beneficial in their treatment outcome. Taken together, mentioned intrinsic and extrinsic metabolic features of leukemic cells can be exploited therapeutically in combination with ASNase treatment.

The stratification of non-responsive patients can be re-examined by measuring the cellular metabolism of leukemic cells. We have demonstrated that the level of glycolytic flux of leukemic cells can predict the sensitivity to ASNase treatment independently of the immunophenotype; B-ALL or T-ALL. Moreover, we found differences in metabolic dependencies between JAK2-rearranged ALL patients with different fusion partners despite their similar gene expression profiles. This difference was then translated into distinct metabolic vulnerabilities. In conclusion, leukemic cell metabolism expands the leukemia characterization, potentially improving patient stratification and treatment options.

#### 7. SUMMARY

# 7.1 Explore the pro-survival metabolic processes of leukemic cells upon ASNase treatment in the BM microenvironment.

In the main project, I have elucidated the metabolic mechanism by which MSCs increase the survival of leukemic cells. Using a BM model, we have demonstrated that MSCs restore the biosynthetic pathways of leukemia cells after ASNase treatment. The restored pathway sustained the leukemic cells' survival, which retrieved the intrinsic resistant mechanisms in leukemic cells. The latter mechanism counteracts the cytotoxicity of the drug.

## 7.2 Study of the basal metabolic profile of leukemic cells in the cellular response to ASNase treatment.

This study investigated the connection between basal metabolic profile and the sensitivity to ASNase treatment in acute leukemia. The metabolic profile was assessed by measuring glycolysis parameters, mitochondrial respiration activity, and MMP in leukemic cell lines (19) and primary cells from both ALL and AML patients (26). Higher glycolytic flux was strongly associated with lower ASNase sensitivity. Moreover, we demonstrated a correlation between lower ASNase sensitivity with higher ATP-linked respiration and basal MMP.

# 7.3 Investigate PTEN mutations or aberrant PI3K/Akt pathway in T-ALL in the ASNase sensitivity and glucose metabolism.

This study focused on the link between PTEN deletion, glucose metabolism and the sensitivity of T-ALL to ASNase treatment. T-ALL with lower ASNase sensitivity displayed higher glycolysis, upregulated by the aberrant activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway. PTEN is a negative regulator of PI3K/Akt pathway, which we found was functionally lost in T-ALL cells which were resistant to ASNase. Pharmacological inhibition of Akt kinase enhanced the sensitivity to ASNase, and led to the inhibition of glycolytic flux.

### 7.4 Characterize the role of metabolic rewiring in malignant transformation driven by mutated JAK2 kinases identified in *BCR-ABL*-like ALL subgroup.

This study compared the metabolic rewiring during leukemogenesis induced by *JAK2* translocations with different fusion partners. We demonstrated that the translocations with altered JAK/STAT signaling displayed different metabolic phenotypes. As a result, we confirmed metabolic heterogeneity within leukemia subtypes, implying different metabolic vulnerabilities.

### 8. LITERATURE REFERENCES

- Akahane, K., Kimura, S., Miyake, K., Watanabe, A., Kagami, K., Yoshimura, K., Shinohara, T., Harama, D., Kasai, S., Goi, K., Kawai, T., Hata, K., Kiyokawa, N., Koh, K., Imamura, T., Horibe, K., Thomas Look, A., Minegishi, M., Sugita, K., ... Inukai, T. (2022). Association of allele-specific methylation of the ASNS gene with asparaginase sensitivity and prognosis in T-ALL. *Blood Advances*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2021004271
- Alexander, T. B., Gu, Z., Iacobucci, I., Dickerson, K., Choi, J. K., Xu, B., Payne-Turner, D., Yoshihara, H., Loh, M. L., Horan, J., Buldini, B., Basso, G., Elitzur, S., de Haas, V., Zwaan, C. M., Yeoh, A., Reinhardt, D., Tomizawa, D., Kiyokawa, N., ...
  Mullighan, C. G. (2018). The genetic basis and cell of origin of mixed phenotype acute leukaemia. *Nature*, 562(7727). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0436-0
- Arruga, F., Gizdic, B., Serra, S., Vaisitti, T., Ciardullo, C., Coscia, M., Laurenti, L.,
  D'Arena, G., Jaksic, O., Inghirami, G., Rossi, D., Gaidano, G., & Deaglio, S. (2014).
  Functional impact of NOTCH1 mutations in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia*, 28(5). https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2013.319
- Asselin, B. L., Whitin, J. C., Coppola, D. J., Rupp, I. P., Sallan, S. E., & Cohen, H. J. (1993). Comparative pharmacokinetic studies of three asparaginase preparations. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *11*(9), 1780–1786. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.1993.11.9.1780
- Asselin, Barbara L. (1999). The three asparaginases: Comparative pharmacology and optimal use in childhood leukemia. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, *457*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-4811-9\_69
- Avissar, N. E., Sax, H. C., & Toia, L. (2008). In human entrocytes, GLN transport and ASCT2 surface expression induced by short-term EGF are MAPK, PI3K, and rhodependent. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 53(8). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-007-0120-y
- Bandapalli, O. R., Zimmermann, M., Kox, C., Stanulla, M., Schrappe, M., Ludwig, W. D., Koehler, R., Muckenthaler, M. U., & Kulozik, A. E. (2013). NOTCH1 activation clinically antagonizes the unfavorable effect of PTEN inactivation in BFM-treated children with precursor T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica*, 98(6). https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2012.073585
- Bar-Peled, L., Schweitzer, L. D., Zoncu, R., & Sabatini, D. M. (2012). Ragulator is a GEF for the rag GTPases that signal amino acid levels to mTORC1. *Cell*, *150*(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.07.032
- Barthel, A., Okino, S. T., Liao, J., Nakatani, K., Li, J., Whitlock, J. P., & Roth, R. A. (1999). Regulation of GLUT1 gene transcription by the serine/threonine kinase Akt1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(29). https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.29.20281
- Bartman, C. R., Weilandt, D. R., Shen, Y., Lee, W. D., Han, Y., TeSlaa, T., Jankowski, C. S. R., Samarah, L., Park, N. R., da Silva-Diz, V., Aleksandrova, M., Gultekin, Y., Marishta, A., Wang, L., Yang, L., Roichman, A., Bhatt, V., Lan, T., Hu, Z., ... Rabinowitz, J. D. (2023). Slow TCA flux and ATP production in primary solid tumours but not metastases. *Nature*, *614*(7947). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05661-6
- Becker, F. F., & Broome, J. D. (1967). L-Asparaginase: Inhibition of early mitosis in regenerating rat liver. *Science*, 156(3782). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.156.3782.1602
- Becker, Frederick F., & Broome, J. D. (1969). I-Asparaginase: Inhibition of endogenous RNA polymerase activity regenerating liver. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 130(C). https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-9861(69)90041-1

- Ben-Sahra, I., Hoxhaj, G., Ricoult, S. J. H., Asara, J. M., & Manning, B. D. (2016). mTORC1 induces purine synthesis through control of the mitochondrial tetrahydrofolate cycle. *Science*, 351(6274). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad0489
- Berry, D. A., Zhou, S., Higley, H., Mukundan, L., Fu, S., Reaman, G. H., Wood, B. L., Kelloff, G. J., Jessup, J. M., & Radich, J. P. (2017). Association of minimal residual disease with clinical outcome in pediatric and adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: A meta-analysis. *JAMA Oncology*, 3(7). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.0580
- Birsoy, K., Wang, T., Chen, W. W., Freinkman, E., Abu-Remaileh, M., & Sabatini, D. M. (2015). An Essential Role of the Mitochondrial Electron Transport Chain in Cell Proliferation Is to Enable Aspartate Synthesis. *Cell*, 162(3), 540–551. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.07.016
- Boer, J. M., Steeghs, E. M. P., Marchante, J. R. M., Boeree, A., Beaudoin, J. J., Beverloo, H. B., Kuiper, R. P., Escherich, G., van der Velden, V. H. J., van der Schoot, C. E., de Groot-Kruseman, H. A., Pieters, R., & den Boer, M. L. (2017). Tyrosine kinase fusion genes in pediatric BCR-ABL1-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Oncotarget*, 8(3). https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.13492
- Boos, J., Werber, G., Ahlke, E., Schulze-Westhoff, P., Nowak-Göttl, U., Würthwein, G., Verspohl, E. J., Ritter, J., & Jürgens, H. (1996). Monitoring of asparaginase activity and asparagine levels in children on different asparaginase preparations. *European Journal of Cancer Part A*, 32(9). https://doi.org/10.1016/0959-8049(96)00131-1
- Boos, Joachim, & Pinheiro, J. P. V. (2004). The best way to use asparaginase in childhood acute lymphatic leukaemia Still to be defined? In *British Journal of Haematology* (Vol. 125, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2004.04863.x
- Borowitz, M. J., Devidas, M., Hunger, S. P., Bowman, W. P., Carroll, A. J., Carroll, W. L., Linda, S., Martin, P. L., Pullen, D. J., Viswanatha, D., Willman, C. L., Winick, N., & Camitta, B. M. (2008). Clinical significance of minimal residual disease in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia and its relationship to other prognostic factors: A Children's Oncology Group study. *Blood*, *111*(12). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-01-132837
- Brand, K., Leibold, W., Luppa, P., Schoerner, C., & Schulz, A. (1986). Metabolic
   Alterations Associated with Proliferation of Mitogen-Activated Lymphocytes and of
   Lymphoblastoid Cell Lines: Evaluation of Glucose and Glutamine Metabolism.
   *Immunobiology*, 173(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0171-2985(86)80086-9
- BROOME, J. D. (1963). Evidence that the L-asparaginase of guinea pig serum is responsible for its antilymphoma effects. I. Properties of the L-asparaginase of guinea pig serum in relation to those of the antilymphoma substance. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 118. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.118.1.99
- Bruno, S., Ledda, B., Tenca, C., Ravera, S., Orengo, A. M., Mazzarello, A. N., Pesenti, E., Casciaro, S., Racchi, O., Ghiotto, F., Marini, C., Sambuceti, G., DeCensi, A., & Fais, F. (2015). Metformin inhibits cell cycle progression of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. *Oncotarget*, *6*(26). https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.4168
- Burt, R., Dey, A., Aref, S., Aguiar, M., Akarca, A., Bailey, K., Day, W., Hooper, S., Kirkwood, A., Kirschner, K., Lee, S. W., Celso, C. Lo, Manji, J., Mansour, M. R., Marafioti, T., Mitchell, R. J., Muirhead, R. C., Ng, K. C. Y., Pospori, C., ... Fielding, A. K. (2019). Activated stromal cells transfer mitochondria to rescue acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells from oxidative stress. *Blood*, *134*(17). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2019001398
- Carnero, A., Blanco-Aparicio, C., Renner, O., Link, W., & Leal, J. (2008). The PTEN/PI3K/AKT Signalling Pathway in Cancer, Therapeutic Implications. *Current Cancer Drug Targets*, 8(3). https://doi.org/10.2174/156800908784293659
- Carracedo, A., Cantley, L. C., & Pandolfi, P. P. (2013). Cancer metabolism: Fatty acid

oxidation in the limelight. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *13*(4). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3483

- Chambers, J. W., Maguire, T. G., & Alwine, J. C. (2010). Glutamine Metabolism Is Essential for Human Cytomegalovirus Infection. *Journal of Virology*, *84*(4). https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.02123-09
- Chan, L. N., Chen, Z., Braas, D., Lee, J.-W., Xiao, G., Geng, H., Cosgun, K. N., Hurtz, C., Shojaee, S., Cazzaniga, V., Schjerven, H., Ernst, T., Hochhaus, A., Kornblau, S. M., Konopleva, M., Pufall, M. A., Cazzaniga, G., Liu, G. J., Milne, T. A., ... Müschen, M. (2017). Metabolic gatekeeper function of B-lymphoid transcription factors. *Nature*, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21076
- Chan, L. N., Chen, Z., Braas, D., Lee, J. W., Xiao, G., Geng, H., Cosgun, K. N., Hurtz, C., Shojaee, S., Cazzaniga, V., Schjerven, H., Ernst, T., Hochhaus, A., Kornblau, S. M., Konopleva, M., Pufall, M. A., Cazzaniga, G., Liu, G. J., Milne, T. A., ... Müschen, M. (2018). Author Correction: Metabolic gatekeeper function of B-lymphoid transcription factors (Nature (2017) DOI: 10.1038/nature21076). In *Nature* (Vol. 558, Issue 7711). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0164-5
- Chen, S., Zhang, S., Wang, Z., Li, J., Yuan, Y., Li, T., Zuo, M., Feng, W., Li, W., Chen, M., & Liu, Y. (2022). Purine metabolism-related gene expression signature predicts survival outcome and indicates immune microenvironment profile of gliomas. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2022.1038272
- Cheung, L. W. T., Hennessy, B. T., Li, J., Yu, S., Myers, A. P., Djordjevic, B., Lu, Y., Katherine, S. H., Dyer, M. D., Zhang, F., Ju, Z., Cantley, L. C., Scherer, S. E., Liang, H., Lu, K. H., Broaddus, R. R., & Mills, G. B. (2011). High frequency of PIK3R1 and PIK3R2 mutations in endometrial cancer elucidates a novel mechanism for regulation of PTEN protein stability. *Cancer Discovery*, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-11-0039
- Chiu, M., Taurino, G., Dander, E., Bardelli, D., Fallati, A., Andreoli, R., Bianchi, M. G., Carubbi, C., Pozzi, G., Galuppo, L., Mirandola, P., Rizzari, C., Tardito, S., Biondi, A., D'Amico, G., & Bussolati, O. (2021). ALL blasts drive primary mesenchymal stromal cells to increase asparagine availability during asparaginase treatment. *Blood Advances*, 5. https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2020004041
- Chow, D. C., Wenning, L. A., Miller, W. M., & Papoutsakis, E. T. (2001). Modeling pO2 distributions in the bone marrow hematopoietic compartment. II. Modified Kroghian models. *Biophysical Journal*, 81(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(01)75733-5
- Chu, E. C., & Tarnawski, A. S. (2004). PTEN regulatory functions in tumor suppression and cell biology. In *Medical Science Monitor* (Vol. 10, Issue 10).
- Cooney, D. A., King, V. D., Cable, R. G., Benjamin, T., & Wodinsky, I. (1976). L-Asparagine Synthetase in Serum as a Marker for Neoplasia. *Cancer Research*, 36.
- Daemen, A., Liu, B., Song, K., Kwong, M., Gao, M., Hong, R., Nannini, M., Peterson, D., Liederer, B. M., de la Cruz, C., Sangaraju, D., Jaochico, A., Zhao, X., Sandoval, W., Hunsaker, T., Firestein, R., Latham, S., Sampath, D., Evangelista, M., & Hatzivassiliou, G. (2018). Pan-Cancer Metabolic Signature Predicts Co-Dependency on Glutaminase and De Novo Glutathione Synthesis Linked to a High-Mesenchymal Cell State. *Cell Metabolism*, 28(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2018.06.003
- Dander, E., Palmi, C., D'amico, G., & Cazzaniga, G. (2021). The bone marrow niche in bcell acute lymphoblastic leukemia: The role of microenvironment from pre-leukemia to overt leukemia. In *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* (Vol. 22, Issue 9). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22094426
- Den Boer, M. L., van Slegtenhorst, M., De Menezes, R. X., Cheok, M. H., Buijs-Gladdines, J. G., Peters, S. T., Van Zutven, L. J., Beverloo, H. B., Van der Spek, P. J., Escherich, G., Horstmann, M. A., Janka-Schaub, G. E., Kamps, W. A., Evans, W. E.,

& Pieters, R. (2009). A subtype of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia with poor treatment outcome: a genome-wide classification study. *The Lancet Oncology*, *10*(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70339-5

- Diaz-Flores, E., Comeaux, E. Q., Kim, K. L., Melnik, E., Beckman, K., Davis, K. L., Wu, K., Akutagawa, J., Bridges, O., Marino, R., Wohlfeil, M., Braun, B. S., Mullighan, C. G., & Loh, M. L. (2019). Bcl-2 is a therapeutic target for hypodiploid b-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Research*, 79(9). https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-0236
- Dimitriou, H., Choulaki, C., Perdikogianni, C., Stiakaki, E., & Kalmanti, M. (2014). Expression levels of ASNS in mesenchymal stromal cells in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *International Journal of Hematology*, *99*(3), 305–310. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12185-014-1509-y
- Düvel, K., Yecies, J. L., Menon, S., Raman, P., Lipovsky, A. I., Souza, A. L., Triantafellow, E., Ma, Q., Gorski, R., Cleaver, S., Vander Heiden, M. G., MacKeigan, J. P., Finan, P. M., Clish, C. B., Murphy, L. O., & Manning, B. D. (2010). Activation of a metabolic gene regulatory network downstream of mTOR complex 1. *Molecular Cell*, 39(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.06.022
- Ede, B. C., Asmaro, R. R., Moppett, J. P., Diamanti, P., & Blair, A. (2018). Investigating chemoresistance to improve sensitivity of childhood T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia to parthenolide. *Haematologica*. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2017.186700
- Ehsanipour, E. A., Sheng, X., Behan, J. W., Wang, X., Butturini, A., Avramis, V. I., & Mittelman, S. D. (2013). Adipocytes cause leukemia cell resistance to l-asparaginase via release of glutamine. *Cancer Research*, 73(10), 2998–3006. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4402
- Ellisen, L. W., Bird, J., West, D. C., Soreng, A. L., Reynolds, T. C., Smith, S. D., & Sklar, J. (1991). TAN-1, the human homolog of the Drosophila Notch gene, is broken by chromosomal translocations in T lymphoblastic neoplasms. *Cell*, 66(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(91)90111-B
- Elmore, S. (2007). Apoptosis: A Review of Programmed Cell Death. In *Toxicologic Pathology* (Vol. 35, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1080/01926230701320337
- Elstrom, R. L., Bauer, D. E., Buzzai, M., Karnauskas, R., Harris, M. H., Plas, D. R., Zhuang, H., Cinalli, R. M., Alavi, A., Rudin, C. M., & Thompson, C. B. (2004). Akt stimulates aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells. *Cancer Research*, 64(11). https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-2904
- Ertel, I. J., Nesbit, M. E., Hammond, D., Weiner, J., & Sather, H. (1979). Effective dose of l-asparaginase for induction of remission in previously treated children with acute lymphocytic leukemia: A report from childrens cancer study group. *Cancer Research*, 39(10).
- Evangelisti, C., Chiarini, F., McCubrey, J. A., & Martelli, A. M. (2018). Therapeutic targeting of mTOR in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia: An update. In *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* (Vol. 19, Issue 7). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19071878
- Fan, J., Ye, J., Kamphorst, J. J., Shlomi, T., Thompson, C. B., & Rabinowitz, J. D. (2014). Quantitative flux analysis reveals folate-dependent NADPH production. *Nature*, 510(7504). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13236
- Fiehn, O., Showalter, M. R., Schaner-Tooley, C. E., Iorns, E., Gunn, W., Tan, F., Lomax, J., Williams, S., Perfito, N., & Errington, T. (2016). Registered report: The common feature of leukemia-associated IDH1 and IDH2 mutations is a neomorphic enzyme activity converting alpha-ketoglutarate to 2-hydroxyglutarate. *ELife*, 5(FEBRUARY2016). https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.12626

- Fiorillo, M., Sotgia, F., & Lisanti, M. P. (2019). "Energetic" cancer stem cells (e-CSCs): A new hyper-metabolic and proliferative tumor cell phenotype, driven by mitochondrial energy. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 9(FEB). https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2018.00677
- Flier, J. S., Mueckler, M. M., Usher, P., & Lodish, H. F. (1987). Elevated levels of glucose transport and transporter messenger RNA are induced by ras or src oncogenes. *Science*, 235(4795). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.3103217
- Friedenstein, A. J., Chailakhyan, R. K., & Gerasimov, U. V. (1987). Bone marrow osteogenic stem cells: in vitro cultivation and transplantation in diffusion chambers. *Cell Proliferation*, 20(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2184.1987.tb01309.x
- Fruman, D. A., Chiu, H., Hopkins, B. D., Bagrodia, S., Cantley, L. C., & Abraham, R. T. (2017). The PI3K Pathway in Human Disease. In *Cell* (Vol. 170, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.07.029
- Fulda, S., Gorman, A. M., Hori, O., & Samali, A. (2010). Cellular stress responses: Cell survival and cell death. In *International Journal of Cell Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/214074
- Gao, P., Tchernyshyov, I., Chang, T. C., Lee, Y. S., Kita, K., Ochi, T., Zeller, K. I., De Marzo, A. M., Van Eyk, J. E., Mendell, J. T., & Dang, C. V. (2009). C-Myc suppression of miR-23a/b enhances mitochondrial glutaminase expression and glutamine metabolism. *Nature*, 458(7239). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07823
- German, N. J., Yoon, H., Yusuf, R. Z., Murphy, J. P., Finley, L. W. S., Laurent, G., Haas, W., Satterstrom, F. K., Guarnerio, J., Zaganjor, E., Santos, D., Pandolfi, P. P., Beck, A. H., Gygi, S. P., Scadden, D. T., Kaelin, W. G., & Haigis, M. C. (2016). PHD3 Loss in Cancer Enables Metabolic Reliance on Fatty Acid Oxidation via Deactivation of ACC2. *Molecular Cell*, 63(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.08.014
- Ghasemian, A., Al-marzoqi, A. H., Al-abodi, H. R., Alghanimi, Y. K., Kadhum, S. A., Shokouhi Mostafavi, S. K., & Fattahi, A. (2019). Bacterial l-asparaginases for cancer therapy: Current knowledge and future perspectives. In *Journal of Cellular Physiology* (Vol. 234, Issue 11). https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.28563
- Grimaldi, C., Chiarini, F., Tabellini, G., Ricci, F., Tazzari, P. L., Battistelli, M., Falcieri, E., Bortul, R., Melchionda, F., Iacobucci, I., Pagliaro, P., Martinelli, G., Pession, A., Barata, J. T., McCubrey, J. A., & Martelli, A. M. (2012). AMP-dependent kinase/mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 signaling in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia: Therapeutic implications. *Leukemia*, *26*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2011.269
- Gu, Z., Churchman, M. L., Roberts, K. G., Moore, I., Zhou, X., Nakitandwe, J., Hagiwara, K., Pelletier, S., Gingras, S., Berns, H., Payne-Turner, D., Hill, A., Iacobucci, I., Shi, L., Pounds, S., Cheng, C., Pei, D., Qu, C., Newman, S., ... Mullighan, C. G. (2019). PAX5-driven subtypes of B-progenitor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nature Genetics*, *51*(2), 296–307. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-018-0315-5
- Guo, K., Tang, W., Zhuo, H., & Zhao, G. (2019). Recent Advance of Akt Inhibitors in Clinical Trials. In *ChemistrySelect* (Vol. 4, Issue 31). https://doi.org/10.1002/slct.201901293
- Gurbuxani, S., Wynne, J. P., & Larson, R. A. (2021). Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: Clinical Presentation, Diagnosis, and Classification. In *Hematologic Malignancies*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6\_10
- Haley, E. E., Fischer, G. A., & Welch, A. D. (1961). The Requirement for L-Asparagine of Mouse Leukemia Cells L5178Y in Culture. *Cancer Research*, 21(4), 532–536.
- Hamada, H., Kobune, M., Nakamura, K., Kawano, Y., Kato, K., Honmou, O., Houkin, K., Matsunaga, T., & Niitsu, Y. (2005). Mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) as therapeutic cytoreagents for gene therapy. In *Cancer Science* (Vol. 96, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.2005.00032.x

- Han, S., Wei, R., Zhang, X., Jiang, N., Fan, M., Huang, J. H., Xie, B., Zhang, L., Miao, W., Butler, A. C. P., Coleman, M. A., Vaughan, A. T., Wang, Y., Chen, H. W., Liu, J., & Li, J. J. (2019). CPT1A/2-Mediated FAO Enhancement—A Metabolic Target in Radioresistant Breast Cancer. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.01201
- Hanahan, D. (2022). Hallmarks of Cancer: New Dimensions. In *Cancer Discovery* (Vol. 12, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-21-1059
- Hara, K., Maruki, Y., Long, X., Yoshino, K. ichi, Oshiro, N., Hidayat, S., Tokunaga, C., Avruch, J., & Yonezawa, K. (2002). Raptor, a binding partner of target of rapamycin (TOR), mediates TOR action. *Cell*, 110(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00833-4
- Haskell, C. M. (1969). L-Asparaginase; Therapeutic and Toxic Effects in Patients with Neoplastic Disease. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 281(19).
- Hatzivassiliou, G., Zhao, F., Bauer, D. E., Andreadis, C., Shaw, A. N., Dhanak, D., Hingorani, S. R., Tuveson, D. A., & Thompson, C. B. (2005). ATP citrate lyase inhibition can suppress tumor cell growth. *Cancer Cell*, 8(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2005.09.008
- Hermanova, I, Arruabarrena-Aristorena, A., Valis, K., Nuskova, H., Alberich-Jorda, M., Fiser, K., Fernandez-Ruiz, S., Kavan, D., Pecinova, A., Niso-Santano, M., Zaliova, M., Novak, P., Houstek, J., Mracek, T., Kroemer, G., Carracedo, A., Trka, J., & Starkova, J. (2016). Pharmacological inhibition of fatty-acid oxidation synergistically enhances the effect of 1-asparaginase in childhood ALL cells. *Leukemia*, 30(1), 209– 218. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2015.213
- Hermanova, Ivana, Zaliova, M., Trka, J., & Starkova, J. (2012). Low expression of asparagine synthetase in lymphoid blasts precludes its role in sensitivity to Lasparaginase. *Experimental Hematology*, 40(8). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2012.04.005
- Hinze, L., Pfirrmann, M., Karim, S., Degar, J., McGuckin, C., Vinjamur, D., Sacher, J., Stevenson, K. E., Neuberg, D. S., Orellana, E., Stanulla, M., Gregory, R. I., Bauer, D. E., Wagner, F. F., Stegmaier, K., & Gutierrez, A. (2019). Synthetic Lethality of Wnt Pathway Activation and Asparaginase in Drug-Resistant Acute Leukemias. *Cancer Cell*, 35(4), 664-676.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2019.03.004
- Hollinshead, K. E. R., Munford, H., Eales, K. L., Bardella, C., Li, C., Escribano-Gonzalez, C., Thakker, A., Nonnenmacher, Y., Kluckova, K., Jeeves, M., Murren, R., Cuozzo, F., Ye, D., Laurenti, G., Zhu, W., Hiller, K., Hodson, D. J., Hua, W., Tomlinson, I. P., ... Tennant, D. A. (2018). Oncogenic IDH1 Mutations Promote Enhanced Proline Synthesis through PYCR1 to Support the Maintenance of Mitochondrial Redox Homeostasis. *Cell Reports*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.02.084
- Holz, M. K., Ballif, B. A., Gygi, S. P., & Blenis, J. (2005). mTOR and S6K1 mediate assembly of the translation preinitiation complex through dynamic protein interchange and ordered phosphorylation events. *Cell*, 123(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.10.024
- Horton, T. M., Whitlock, J. A., Lu, X., O'Brien, M. M., Borowitz, M. J., Devidas, M., Raetz, E. A., Brown, P. A., Carroll, W. L., & Hunger, S. P. (2019). Bortezomib reinduction chemotherapy in high-risk ALL in first relapse: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. *British Journal of Haematology*, 186(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/bjh.15919
- Hu, F., Wang, Y., Wang, W. da, Gale, R. P., Wu, B. yi, & Liang, Y. (2021). Improving prediction accuracy in acute myeloid leukaemia: micro-environment, immune and metabolic models. *Leukemia*, 35(11). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41375-021-01377-0
- Hu, K., Gu, Y., Lou, L., Liu, L., Hu, Y., Wang, B., Luo, Y., Shi, J., Yu, X., & Huang, H.

(2015). Galectin-3 mediates bone marrow microenvironment-induced drug resistance in acute leukemia cells via Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway. *Journal of Hematology and Oncology*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-014-0099-8

- Hu, X., li, J., Fu, M., Zhao, X., & Wang, W. (2021). The JAK/STAT signaling pathway: from bench to clinic. In *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy* (Vol. 6, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-021-00791-1
- Hui, S., Ghergurovich, J. M., Morscher, R. J., Jang, C., Teng, X., Lu, W., Esparza, L. A., Reya, T., Zhan, L., Yanxiang Guo, J., White, E., & Rabinowitz, J. D. (2017). Glucose feeds the TCA cycle via circulating lactate. *Nature*, 551(7678). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature24057
- Hunger, S. P., & Mullighan, C. G. (2015a). Acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children. New England Journal of Medicine, 373(16), 1541–1552. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1400972
- Hunger, S. P., & Mullighan, C. G. (2015b). Redefining ALL classification: Toward detecting high-risk ALL and implementing precision medicine. In *Blood* (Vol. 125, Issue 26). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-02-580043

Hunger, S. P., & Raetz, E. A. (2020). How I treat relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia in the pediatric population. *Blood*, 136(16). https://doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD.2019004043

- Iiboshi, Y., Papst, P. J., Hunger, S. P., & Terada, N. (1999). L-Asparaginase inhibits the rapamycin-targeted signaling pathway. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 260(2). https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1999.0920
- Inaba, H., & Pui, C. H. (2021). Advances in the diagnosis and treatment of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *10*(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm10091926
- Iwamoto, S., & Mihara, K. (2007). Mesenchymal cells regulate the response of acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells to asparaginase. *Journal of Clinical ..., 117*(4), 1049– 1057. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI30235.Stams
- Izadpanah, F., Homaei, A., Fernandes, P., & Javadpour, S. (2018). Marine microbial Lasparaginase: Biochemistry, molecular approaches and applications in tumor therapy and in food industry. In *Microbiological Research* (Vol. 208). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2018.01.011
- Jacamo, R., Chen, Y., Wang, Z., Wencai, M., Zhang, M., Spaeth, E. L., Wang, Y., Battula, V. L., Mak, P. Y., Schallmoser, K., Ruvolo, P., Schober, W. D., Shpall, E. J., Nguyen, M. H., Strunk, D., Bueso-Ramos, C. E., Konoplev, S., Davis, R. E., Konopleva, M., & Andreeff, M. (2014). Reciprocal leukemia-stroma VCAM-1/VLA-4-dependent activation of NF-κB mediates chemoresistance. *Blood*, *123*(17), 2691–2702. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-06-511527
- Jaffe, N., Traggis, D., Das, L., Moloney, W. C., Hann, H. W., Kim, B. S., & Nair, R. (1971). L-asparaginase in the treatment of neoplastic diseases in children. *Cancer Research*, 31(7).
- Jeha, S., Choi, J., Roberts, K. G., Pei, D., Coustan-Smith, E., Inaba, H., Rubnitz, J. E., Ribeiro, R. C., Gruber, T. A., Raimondi, S. C., Karol, S. E., Qu, C., Brady, S. W., Gu, Z., Yang, J. J., Cheng, C., Downing, J. R., Evans, W. E., Relling, M. V., ... Pui, C. H. (2021). Clinical significance of novel subtypes of acute lymphoblastic leukemia in the context of minimal residual disease-directed therapy. *Blood Cancer Discovery*, 2(4). https://doi.org/10.1158/2643-3230.BCD-20-0229
- Jenkinson, S., Kirkwood, A. A., Goulden, N., Vora, A., Linch, D. C., & Gale, R. E. (2016). Impact of PTEN abnormalities on outcome in pediatric patients with T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated on the MRC UKALL2003 trial. *Leukemia*, 30(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2015.206

- Jones, C. L., Stevens, B. M., D'Alessandro, A., Reisz, J. A., Culp-Hill, R., Nemkov, T., Pei, S., Khan, N., Adane, B., Ye, H., Krug, A., Reinhold, D., Smith, C., DeGregori, J., Pollyea, D. A., & Jordan, C. T. (2018). Inhibition of Amino Acid Metabolism Selectively Targets Human Leukemia Stem Cells. *Cancer Cell*, 34(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2018.10.005
- Jurado, S., Fedl, A. S., Jaritz, M., Kostanova-Poliakova, D., Malin, S. G., Mullighan, C. G., Strehl, S., Fischer, M., & Busslinger, M. (2022). The PAX5-JAK2 translocation acts as dual-hit mutation that promotes aggressive B-cell leukemia via nuclear STAT5 activation. *The EMBO Journal*, 41(7). https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.2021108397
- Kadioglu, O., Saeed, M. E. M., Munder, M., Spuller, A., Greten, H. J., & Efferth, T. (2020). Effect of ABC transporter expression and mutational status on survival rates of cancer patients. *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, 131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110718
- Kamdje, A. H. N., Mosna, F., Bifari, F., Lisi, V., Bassi, G., Malpeli, G., Ricciardi, M., Perbellini, O., Scupoli, M. T., Pizzolo, G., & Krampera, M. (2011). Notch-3 and Notch-4 signaling rescue from apoptosis human B-ALL cells in contact with human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells. *Blood*, *118*(2). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-12-326694
- Kang, S. M., Rosales, J. L., Meier-Stephenson, V., Kim, S., Lee, K. Y., & Narendran, A. (2017). SHORT COMMUNICATION: Genome-wide loss-of-function genetic screening identifies opioid receptor μ1 as a key regulator of L-asparaginase resistance in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Oncogene*, *36*(42). https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2017.211
- Kassem, M., Mosekilde, L., Rungby, J., Mosekilde, L., Melsen, F., & Eriksen, E. F. (1991). Formation of osteoclasts and osteoblast-like cells in long-term human bone marrow cultures. *APMIS*, 99(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1699-0463.1991.tb05148.x
- Khaw, S. L., Suryani, S., Evans, K., Richmond, J., Robbins, A., Kurmasheva, R. T., Billups, C. A., Erickson, S. W., Guo, Y., Houghton, P. J., Smith, M. A., Carol, H., Roberts, A. W., Huang, D. C. S., & Lock, R. B. (2016). Venetoclax responses of pediatric ALL xenografts reveal sensitivity of MLL-rearranged leukemia. *Blood*, *128*(10). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-03-707414
- KIDD, J. G. (1953). Regression of transplanted lymphomas induced in vivo by means of normal guinea pig serum. I. Course of transplanted cancers of various kinds in mice and rats given guinea pig serum, horse serum, or rabbit serum. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 98(6). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.98.6.565
- Kiel, M. J., Radice, G. L., & Morrison, S. J. (2007). Lack of Evidence that Hematopoietic Stem Cells Depend on N-Cadherin-Mediated Adhesion to Osteoblasts for Their Maintenance. *Cell Stem Cell*, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2007.06.001
- Kim, J., & DeBerardinis, R. J. (2019). Mechanisms and Implications of Metabolic Heterogeneity in Cancer. In *Cell Metabolism* (Vol. 30, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2019.08.013
- Kľučková, K., Thakker, A., Vettore, L., Escribano-Gonzalez, C., Hindshaw, R. L., Tearle, J. L. E., Goncalves, J., Kaul, B., Lavery, G. G., Favier, J., & Tennant, D. A. (2020). Succinate dehydrogenase deficiency in a chromaffin cell model retains metabolic fitness through the maintenance of mitochondrial nadh oxidoreductase function. *FASEB Journal*, *34*(1). https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201901456R
- Kodytkova, D., Bajciova, V., Krejci, D., Zapletalova, M., Dusek, V., Jarkovsky, J., Muzik, J., Klimes, D., Stary, J., Smelhaus, V., Vrzalova, A., Janotova, I., Sterba, J., & Dusek, L. (2018). Trends in incidence of childhood cancers in the Czech Republic: Population-based analysis of national registries (1994–2014). *Neoplasma*, 65(4). https://doi.org/10.4149/neo\_2018\_170517N358

- Kong, K., Ng, P. K. S., & Scott, K. L. (2017). Ba/F3 transformation assays. In Oncotarget (Vol. 8, Issue 22). https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.17828
- Kuhlen, M., Willasch, A. M., Dalle, J. H., Wachowiak, J., Yaniv, I., Ifversen, M., Sedlacek, P., Guengoer, T., Lang, P., Bader, P., Sufliarska, S., Balduzzi, A., Strahm, B., von Luettichau, I., Hoell, J. I., Borkhardt, A., Klingebiel, T., Schrappe, M., von Stackelberg, A., ... Peters, C. (2018). Outcome of relapse after allogeneic HSCT in children with ALL enrolled in the ALL-SCT 2003/2007 trial. *British Journal of Haematology*, *180*(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/bjh.14965
- Kuiper, R. P., Schoenmakers, E. F. P. M., van Reijmersdal, S. V., Hehir-Kwa, J. Y., van Kessel, A. G., van Leeuwen, F. N., & Hoogerbrugge, P. M. (2007). High-resolution genomic profiling of childhood ALL reveals novel recurrent genetic lesions affecting pathways involved in lymphocyte differentiation and cell cycle progression. *Leukemia*, 21(6). https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2404691
- Kunisaki, Y., Bruns, I., Scheiermann, C., Ahmed, J., Pinho, S., Zhang, D., Mizoguchi, T., Wei, Q., Lucas, D., Ito, K., Mar, J. C., Bergman, A., & Frenette, P. S. (2013). Arteriolar niches maintain haematopoietic stem cell quiescence. *Nature*, 502(7473). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12612
- Lawrence, M. S., Stojanov, P., Mermel, C. H., Robinson, J. T., Garraway, L. A., Golub, T. R., Meyerson, M., Gabriel, S. B., Lander, E. S., & Getz, G. (2014). Discovery and saturation analysis of cancer genes across 21 tumour types. *Nature*, 505(7484). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12912
- Leclerc, G. M., Leclerc, G. J., Kuznetsov, J. N., DeSalvo, J., & Barredo, J. C. (2013). Metformin Induces Apoptosis through AMPK-Dependent Inhibition of UPR Signaling in ALL Lymphoblasts. *PLoS ONE*, 8(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0074420
- Lee, C., Leventhal, T. M., & Anugwom, C. M. (2021). L-Asparaginase-Induced Hepatotoxicity Treated Successfully With L-Carnitine and Vitamin B Infusion. *Cureus*. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.16917
- Lee, J., Kang, S., Wang, X., Rosales, J. L., Gao, X., Byun, H.-G., Jin, Y., Fu, S., Wang, J., & Lee, K.-Y. (2019). HAP1 loss confers L-asparaginase resistance in ALL by downregulating the calpain-1-Bid-caspase-3/12 pathway. *Blood*, 403, blood-2018-12-890236. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2018-12-890236
- Li, J. F., Dai, Y. T., Lilljebjörn, H., Shen, S. H., Cui, B. W., Bai, L., Liu, Y. F., Qian, M. X., Kubota, Y., Kiyoi, H., Matsumura, I., Miyazaki, Y., Olsson, L., Tan, A. M., Ariffin, H., Chen, J., Takita, J., Yasuda, T., Mano, H., ... Huang, J. Y. (2018). Transcriptional landscape of B cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia based on an international study of 1,223 cases. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115(50). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1814397115
- Li, Y. J., Fahrmann, J. F., Aftabizadeh, M., Zhao, Q., Tripathi, S. C., Zhang, C., Yuan, Y., Ann, D., Hanash, S., & Yu, H. (2022). Fatty acid oxidation protects cancer cells from apoptosis by increasing mitochondrial membrane lipids. *Cell Reports*, 39(9). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2022.110870
- Liou, G. Y., & Storz, P. (2010). Reactive oxygen species in cancer. In *Free Radical Research* (Vol. 44, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.3109/10715761003667554
- Liu, H. C., Gang, E. J., Kim, H. N., Abdel-Azim, N., Chen, R., Abdel-Azim, H., Shung, K. K., & Kim, Y. M. (2020). Integrin Antibody Decreases Deformability of Patient-Derived Pre-B Acute Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells as Measured by High-Frequency Acoustic Tweezers. *Journal of Ultrasound in Medicine*, 39(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/jum.15139
- Liu, H. C., Gang, E. J., Kim, H. N., Lim, H. G., Jung, H., Chen, R., Abdel-Azim, H.,

Shung, K. K., & Kim, Y. M. (2018). Characterizing Deformability of Drug Resistant Patient-Derived Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL) Cells Using Acoustic Tweezers. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-34024-3

- Liu, H. C., Gang, E. J., Kim, H. N., Ruan, Y., Ogana, H., Wan, Z., Bönig, H., Shung, K. K., & Kim, Y. M. (2020). Characterizing the Motility of Chemotherapeutics-Treated Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Cells by Time-Lapse Imaging. *Cells*, 9(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9061470
- Liu, X., Kim, J. H., Wang, J., Chen, X., Zhang, H., Kim, S. H., Cui, J., Ruidong, L., Zhang, W., Kong, Y., Zhang, J., Shui, W., Lamplot, J., Rogers, M. R., Zhao, C., Wang, N., Tomal, J., Statz, J., Wang, N., ... Rajan, P. (2013). Wnt signaling in bone formation and its therapeutic potential for bone diseases. In *Therapeutic Advances in Musculoskeletal Disease* (Vol. 5, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1177/1759720X12466608
- Liu, Y., Easton, J., Shao, Y., Maciaszek, J., Wang, Z., Wilkinson, M. R., McCastlain, K., Edmonson, M., Pounds, S. B., Shi, L., Zhou, X., Ma, X., Sioson, E., Li, Y., Rusch, M., Gupta, P., Pei, D., Cheng, C., Smith, M. A., ... Mullighan, C. G. (2017). The genomic landscape of pediatric and young adult T-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nature Genetics*, 49(8). https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3909
- Lucas Sullivan, A. B., Gui, D. Y., Hosios, A. M., Bush, L. N., Freinkman, E., Vander Heiden, M. G., & Sullivan, L. B. (2015). Supporting Aspartate Biosynthesis Is an Essential Function of Respiration in Proliferating Cells. *Cell*, 162, 552–563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.07.017
- Lühmann, J. L., Stelter, M., Wolter, M., Kater, J., Lentes, J., Bergmann, A. K., Schieck, M., Göhring, G., Möricke, A., Cario, G., Žaliová, M., Schrappe, M., Schlegelberger, B., Stanulla, M., & Steinemann, D. (2021). The clinical utility of optical genome mapping for the assessment of genomic aberrations in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancers*, *13*(17), 4388. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13174388
- Ma, Z., Zhao, X., Deng, M., Huang, Z., Wang, J., Wu, Y., Cui, D., Liu, Y., Liu, R., & Ouyang, G. (2019). Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stromal Cell-Derived Periostin Promotes B-ALL Progression by Modulating CCL2 in Leukemia Cells. *Cell Reports*, 26(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.01.034
- Maese, L., & Rau, R. E. (2022). Current Use of Asparaginase in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia/Lymphoblastic Lymphoma. In *Frontiers in Pediatrics* (Vol. 10). https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2022.902117
- Manabe, A., Coustan-Smith, E., Behm, F. G., Raimondi, S. C., & Campana, D. (1992). Bone marrow-derived stromal cells prevent apoptotic cell death in B- lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood*. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v79.9.2370.bloodjournal7992370
- Manabe, Atsushi, Murti, K. G., Coustan-Smith, E., Kumagai, M. A., Behm, F. G., Raimondi, S. C., & Campana, D. (1994). Adhesion-dependent survival of normal and leukemic human B lymphoblasts on bone marrow stromal cells. *Blood*. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v83.3.758.bloodjournal833758
- Mannava, S., Grachtchouk, V., Wheeler, L. J., Im, M., Zhuang, D., Slavina, E. G., Mathews, C. K., Shewach, D. S., & Nikiforov, M. A. (2008). Direct role of nucleotide metabolism in C-MYC-dependent proliferation of melanoma cells. *Cell Cycle*, 7(15). https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.6390
- Marin-Valencia, I., Yang, C., Mashimo, T., Cho, S., Baek, H., Yang, X. L., Rajagopalan, K. N., Maddie, M., Vemireddy, V., Zhao, Z., Cai, L., Good, L., Tu, B. P., Hatanpaa, K. J., Mickey, B. E., Matés, J. M., Pascual, J. M., Maher, E. A., Malloy, C. R., ... Bachoo, R. M. (2012). Analysis of tumor metabolism reveals mitochondrial glucose oxidation in genetically diverse human glioblastomas in the mouse brain in vivo. *Cell*

Metabolism, 15(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2012.05.001

- Mashburn, L. T., & Wriston, J. C. (1964). Tumor inhibitory effect of l-asparaginase from Escherichia coli. In *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* (Vol. 105, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-9861(64)90032-3
- Mashimo, T., Pichumani, K., Vemireddy, V., Hatanpaa, K. J., Singh, D. K.,
  Sirasanagandla, S., Nannepaga, S., Piccirillo, S. G., Kovacs, Z., Foong, C., Huang, Z.,
  Barnett, S., Mickey, B. E., Deberardinis, R. J., Tu, B. P., Maher, E. A., & Bachoo, R.
  M. (2014). Acetate is a bioenergetic substrate for human glioblastoma and brain
  metastases. *Cell*, 159(7). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.11.025
- Mendes, R. D., Canté-Barrett, K., Pieters, R., & Meijerink, J. P. P. (2016). The relevance of PTEN-AKT in relation to NOTCH1-directed treatment strategies in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica*, 101(9). https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2016.146381
- Meng, D., Yang, Q., Wang, H., Melick, C. H., Navlani, R., Frank, A. R., & Jewell, J. L. (2020). Glutamine and asparagine activate mTORC1 independently of Rag GTPases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 295(10), 2890–2899. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.AC119.011578
- Meyer, J. A., Wang, J., Hogan, L. E., Yang, J. J., Dandekar, S., Patel, J. P., Tang, Z.,
  Zumbo, P., Li, S., Zavadil, J., Levine, R. L., Cardozo, T., Hunger, S. P., Raetz, E. A.,
  Evans, W. E., Morrison, D. J., Mason, C. E., & Carroll, W. L. (2013). Relapsespecific mutations in NT5C2 in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nature Genetics*, 45(3). https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2558
- Mudry, M. E., Fortney, J. E., York, T., Hall, B. M., & Gibson, L. F. (2000). Stromal cells regulate survival of B-lineage leukemic cells during chemotherapy. *Blood*, 96(5). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v96.5.1926
- Mullighan, C. G., Goorha, S., Radtke, I., Miller, C. B., Coustan-Smith, E., Dalton, J. D., Girtman, K., Mathew, S., Ma, J., Pounds, S. B., Su, X., Pui, C. H., Relling, M. V., Evans, W. E., Shurtleff, S. A., & Downing, J. R. (2007). Genome-wide analysis of genetic alterations in acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. In *Nature* (Vol. 446, Issue 7137). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05690
- Mullighan, C. G., Su, X., Zhang, J., Radtke, I., Phillips, L. A. A., Miller, C. B., Ma, J., Liu, W., Cheng, C., Schulman, B. A., Harvey, R. C., Chen, I.-M., Clifford, R. J., Carroll, W. L., Reaman, G., Bowman, W. P., Devidas, M., Gerhard, D. S., Yang, W., ... Downing, J. R. (2009). Deletion of IKZF1 and Prognosis in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia . *New England Journal of Medicine*, *360*(5). https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa0808253
- Mullighan, C. G., Zhang, J., Kasper, L. H., Lerach, S., Payne-Turner, D., Phillips, L. A., Heatley, S. L., Holmfeldt, L., Collins-Underwood, J. R., Ma, J., Buetow, K. H., Pui, C. H., Baker, S. D., Brindle, P. K., & Downing, J. R. (2011). CREBBP mutations in relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Nature*, 471(7337). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09727
- Nesbit, M., Chard, R., Evans, A., Karon, M., & Hammond, G. D. (1979). Evaluation of intramuscular versus intravenous administration of L-asparaginase in childhood leukemia. *American Journal of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology*, 1(1).
- Nesbit, M. E., Ertel, I., & Hammond, G. D. (1981). L-Asparaginase as a single agent in acute lymphocytic leukemia: Survey of studies from childrens cancer study group. *Cancer Treatment Reports*, 65(Suppl. 4).
- Nguyen, K., Devidas, M., Cheng, S. C., La, M., Raetz, E. A., Carroll, W. L., Winick, N. J., Hunger, S. P., Gaynon, P. S., & Loh, M. L. (2008). Factors influencing survival after relapse from acute lymphoblastic leukemia: A Children's Oncology Group study. *Leukemia*, 22(12). https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2008.251

- Nguyen, Q. N., Ly, N. B., Komaki, R., Levy, L. B., Gomez, D. R., Chang, J. Y., Allen, P. K., Mehran, R. J., Lu, C., Gillin, M., Liao, Z., & Cox, J. D. (2015). Long-term outcomes after proton therapy, with concurrent chemotherapy, for stage II-III inoperable non-small cell lung cancer. *Radiotherapy and Oncology*, *115*(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radonc.2015.05.014
- Ni Chonghaile, T., Roderick, J. E., Glenfield, C., Ryan, J., Sallan, S. E., Silverman, L. B., Loh, M. L., Hunger, S. P., Wood, B., DeAngelo, D. J., Stone, R., Harris, M., Gutierrez, A., Kelliher, M. A., & Letai, A. (2014). Maturation stage of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia determines BCL-2 versus BCL-XL dependence and sensitivity to ABT-199. *Cancer Discovery*, 4(9). https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-0353
- Nicklin, P., Bergman, P., Zhang, B., Triantafellow, E., Wang, H., Nyfeler, B., Yang, H., Hild, M., Kung, C., Wilson, C., Myer, V. E., MacKeigan, J. P., Porter, J. A., Wang, Y. K., Cantley, L. C., Finan, P. M., & Murphy, L. O. (2009). Bidirectional Transport of Amino Acids Regulates mTOR and Autophagy. *Cell*, 136(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.11.044
- Nierste, B. A., Glackin, C. A., & Kirshner, J. (2014). Dkk-1 and IL-7 in plasma of patients with multiple myeloma prevent differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells into osteoblasts. *American Journal of Blood Research*, 4(2).
- Noch, E., & Khalili, K. (2012). Oncogenic viruses and tumor glucose metabolism: Like kids in a candy store. In *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics* (Vol. 11, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-11-0517
- Nygren, M. K., Døsen-Dahl, G., Stubberud, H., Wälchli, S., Munthe, E., & Rian, E. (2009). β-catenin is involved in N-cadherin-dependent adhesion, but not in canonical Wnt signaling in E2A-PBX1-positive B acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Experimental Hematology*, *37*(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2008.10.007
- O'Neil, J., Calvo, J., McKenna, K., Krishnamoorthy, V., Aster, J. C., Bassing, C. H., Alt, F. W., Kelliher, M., & Look, A. T. (2006). Activating Notch1 mutations in mouse models of T-ALL. *Blood*, 107(2). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-06-2553
- Olson, O. C., Kang, Y. A., & Passegué, E. (2020). Normal hematopoiesis is a balancing act of self-renewal and regeneration. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine*, 10(12), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a035519
- Oskarsson, T., Söderhäll, S., Arvidson, J., Forestier, E., Montgomery, S., Bottai, M., Lausen, B., Carlsen, N., Hellebostad, M., Lähteenmäki, P., Saarinen-Pihkala, U. M., G.Jónsson, Ó., & Heyman, M. (2016). Relapsed childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia in the Nordic countries: Prognostic factors, treatment and outcome. *Haematologica*, 101(1). https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2015.131680
- Paganin, M., Grillo, M. F., Silvestri, D., Scapinello, G., Buldini, B., Cazzaniga, G., Biondi, A., Valsecchi, M. G., Conter, V., te Kronnie, G., & Basso, G. (2018). The presence of mutated and deleted PTEN is associated with an increased risk of relapse in childhood T cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia treated with AIEOP-BFM ALL protocols. *British Journal of Haematology*, 182(5). https://doi.org/10.1111/bjh.15449
- Palm, W., & Thompson, C. B. (2017). Nutrient acquisition strategies of mammalian cells. In *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature22379
- Palomero, T., Barnes, K. C., Real, P. J., Glade Bender, J. L., Sulis, M. L., Murty, V. V., Colovai, A. I., Balbin, M., & Ferrando, A. A. (2006). CUTLL1, a novel human T-cell lymphoma cell line with t(7;9) rearrangement, aberrant NOTCH1 activation and high sensitivity to γ-secretase inhibitors. *Leukemia*, 20(7). https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2404258
- Palomero, Teresa, & Ferrando, A. (2009). Therapeutic targeting of NOTCH1 signaling in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. In *Clinical lymphoma & myeloma: Vol. 9 Suppl*

3. https://doi.org/10.3816/clm.2009.s.013

- Patra, K. C., & Hay, N. (2014). The pentose phosphate pathway and cancer. In *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* (Vol. 39, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2014.06.005
- Pavlova, N. N., Hui, S., Ghergurovich, J. M., Fan, J., Intlekofer, A. M., White, R. M., Rabinowitz, J. D., Thompson, C. B., & Zhang, J. (2018). As Extracellular Glutamine Levels Decline, Asparagine Becomes an Essential Amino Acid. *Cell Metabolism*, 1– 11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.12.006
- Pavlova, N. N., & Thompson, C. B. (2016). The Emerging Hallmarks of Cancer Metabolism. In *Cell Metabolism* (Vol. 23, Issue 1, pp. 27–47). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2015.12.006
- Pavlova, N. N., Zhu, J., & Thompson, C. B. (2022). The hallmarks of cancer metabolism: Still emerging. In *Cell Metabolism* (Vol. 34, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2022.01.007
- Peirs, S., Matthijssens, F., Goossens, S., Van De Walle, I., Ruggero, K., De Bock, C. E., Degryse, S., Canté-Barrett, K., Briot, D., Clappier, E., Lammens, T., De Moerloose, B., Benoit, Y., Poppe, B., Meijerink, J. P., Cools, J., Soulier, J., Rabbitts, T. H., Taghon, T., ... Van Vlierberghe, P. (2014). ABT-199 mediated inhibition of BCL-2 as a novel therapeutic strategy in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood*, *124*(25). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-05-574566
- Perez-Atayde, A. R., Sallan, S. E., Tedrow, U., Connors, S., Allred, E., & Folkman, J. (1997). Spectrum of tumor angiogenesis in the bone marrow of children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. In *American Journal of Pathology* (Vol. 150, Issue 3).
- Perry, S. W., Norman, J. P., Barbieri, J., Brown, E. B., & Gelbard, H. A. (2011). Mitochondrial membrane potential probes and the proton gradient: A practical usage guide. In *BioTechniques* (Vol. 50, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.2144/000113610
- Pession, A., Valsecchi, M. G., Masera, G., Kamps, W. A., Magyarosy, E., Rizzari, C., Van Wering, E. R., Lo Nigro, L., Van Der Does, A., Locatelli, F., Basso, G., & Aricò, M. (2005). Long-term results of a randomized trial on extended use of high dose Lasparaginase for standard risk childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 23(28). https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2005.11.411
- Peters, C., Matthes-Martin, S., Poetschger, U., Schrappe, M., Schrauder, A., Von Stackelberg, A., Ebell, W., Bader, P., Klingebiel, T., Lang, P., Sykora, K. W., Zimmerman, M., Schrum, J., Kremens, B., Ehlert, K., Albert, M. H., Meisel, R., Holter, W., Strahm, B., ... Gungor, T. (2015). Stem-cell transplantation in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: A prospective international multicenter trial comparing sibling donors with matched unrelated donors-The ALL-SCT-BFM-2003 trial. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *33*(11). https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2014.58.9747
- Pillozzi, S., Masselli, M., De Lorenzo, E., Accordi, B., Cilia, E., Crociani, O., Amedei, A., Veltroni, M., D'Amico, M., Basso, G., Becchetti, A., Campana, D., & Arcangeli, A. (2011). Chemotherapy resistance in acute lymphoblastic leukemia requires hERG1 channels and is overcome by hERG1 blockers. *Blood*, *117*(3). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-01-262691
- Pinheiro, J. P. V., Ahlke, E., Nowak-Göttl, U., Hempel, G., Müller, H. J., Lümkemann, K., Schrappe, M., Rath, B., Fleischhack, G., Mann, G., & Boos, J. (1999).
  Pharmacokinetic dose adjustment of Erwinia asparaginase in protocol II of the paediatric ALL/NHL-BFM treatment protocols. *British Journal of Haematology*, 104(2). https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2141.1999.01192.x
- Polak, R., De Rooij, B., Pieters, R., & Den Boer, M. L. (2015). B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells use tunneling nanotubes to orchestrate their microenvironment. *Blood*, *126*(21). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-03-634238
  Porstmann, T., Santos, C. R., Griffiths, B., Cully, M., Wu, M., Leevers, S., Griffiths, J. R.,

Chung, Y. L., & Schulze, A. (2008). SREBP Activity Is Regulated by mTORC1 and Contributes to Akt-Dependent Cell Growth. *Cell Metabolism*, 8(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2008.07.007

- Prager, M. D., & Bachynsky, N. (1968). Asparagine synthetase in normal and malignant tissues; correlation with tumor sensitivity to asparaginase. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, *127*(C). https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-9861(68)90273-7
- Prew, M. S., Adhikary, U., Choi, D. W., Portero, E. P., Paulo, J. A., Gowda, P., Budhraja, A., Opferman, J. T., Gygi, S. P., Danial, N. N., & Walensky, L. D. (2022). MCL-1 is a master regulator of cancer dependency on fatty acid oxidation. *Cell Reports*, 41(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2022.111445
- Pui, C. H., Pei, D., Coustan-Smith, E., Jeha, S., Cheng, C., Bowman, W. P., Sandlund, J. T., Ribeiro, R. C., Rubnitz, J. E., Inaba, H., Bhojwani, D., Gruber, T. A., Leung, W. H., Downing, J. R., Evans, W. E., Relling, M. V., & Campana, D. (2015). Clinical utility of sequential minimal residual disease measurements in the context of risk-based therapy in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: A prospective study. *The Lancet Oncology*, *16*(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(15)70082-3
- Pulè, M. A., Gullmann, C., Dennis, D., McMahon, C., Jeffers, M., & Smith, O. P. (2002). Increased angiogenesis in bone marrow of children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia has no prognostic significance. *British Journal of Haematology*, 118(4). https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2141.2002.03761.x
- Pulido, R. (2015). PTEN: A yin-yang master regulator protein in health and disease. *Methods*, 77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2015.02.009
- Pullarkat, V. A., Lacayo, N. J., Jabbour, E., Rubnitz, J. E., Bajel, A., Laetsch, T. W., Leonard, J., Colace, S. I., Khaw, S. L., Fleming, S. A., Mattison, R. J., Norris, R., Opferman, J. T., Roberts, K. G., Zhao, Y., Qu, C., Badawi, M., Schmidt, M., Tong, B., ... Stock, W. (2021). Venetoclax and navitoclax in combination with chemotherapy in patients with relapsed or refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia and lymphoblastic lymphoma. *Cancer Discovery*, 11(6). https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-20-1465
- Pusapati, R. V., Daemen, A., Wilson, C., Sandoval, W., Gao, M., Haley, B., Baudy, A. R., Hatzivassiliou, G., Evangelista, M., & Settleman, J. (2016). MTORC1-Dependent Metabolic Reprogramming Underlies Escape from Glycolysis Addiction in Cancer Cells. *Cancer Cell*, 29(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2016.02.018
- Raetz, E. A., & Bhatla, T. (2012). Where do we stand in the treatment of relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia? In *Hematology / the Education Program of the American Society of Hematology. American Society of Hematology. Education Program* (Vol. 2012). https://doi.org/10.1182/asheducation.v2012.1.129.3800156
- Ramos, A., Sadeghi, S., & Tabatabaeian, H. (2021). Battling chemoresistance in cancer: Root causes and strategies to uproot them. In *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* (Vol. 22, Issue 17). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22179451
- Rao, T. N., Hansen, N., Hilfiker, J., Rai, S., Majewska, J. M., Leković, D., Gezer, D.,
  Andina, N., Galli, S., Cassel, T., Geier, F., Delezie, J., Nienhold, R., Hao-Shen, H.,
  Beisel, C., Di Palma, S., Dimeloe, S., Trebicka, J., Wolf, D., ... Skoda, R. C. (2019).
  JAK2-mutant hematopoietic cells display metabolic alterations that can be targeted to
  treat myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Blood*, *134*(21).
  https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2019000162
- Rashkovan, M., & Ferrando, A. (2019). Metabolic dependencies and vulnerabilities in leukemia. *Genes & Development*, 33(21–22), 1460–1474. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.326470.119
- Rathmell, J. C., Fox, C. J., Plas, D. R., Hammerman, P. S., Cinalli, R. M., & Thompson, C. B. (2003). Akt-Directed Glucose Metabolism Can Prevent Bax Conformation Change

and Promote Growth Factor-Independent Survival. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(20). https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.23.20.7315-7328.2003

- Reynolds, M. R., Lane, A. N., Robertson, B., Kemp, S., Liu, Y., Hill, B. G., Dean, D. C., & Clem, B. F. (2014). Control of glutamine metabolism by the tumor suppressor Rb. *Oncogene*, 33(5). https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2012.635
- Ribera, J. M., Oriol, A., Morgades, M., Montesinos, P., Sarrà, J., González-Campos, J., Brunet, S., Tormo, M., Fernández-Abellán, P., Guàrdia, R., Bernal, M. T., Esteve, J., Barba, P., Moreno, M. J., Bermúdez, A., Cladera, A., Escoda, L., García-Boyero, R., Del Potro, E., ... Feliu, E. (2014). Treatment of high-risk Philadelphia chromosomenegative acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adolescents and adults according to early cytologic response and minimal residual disease after consolidation assessed by flow cytometry: Final results of the PETHEMA ALL-AR-03 trial. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *32*(15). https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2013.52.2425
- Rickard, D. J., Hofbauer, L. C., Bonde, S. K., Gori, F., Spelsberg, T. C., & Riggs, B. L. (1998). Bone morphogenetic protein-6 production in human osteoblastic cell lines: Selective regulation by estrogen. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 101(2). https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI119880
- Roberts, K. G., Li, Y., Payne-Turner, D., Harvey, R. C., Yang, Y.-L., Pei, D., McCastlain, K., Ding, L., Lu, C., Song, G., Ma, J., Becksfort, J., Rusch, M., Chen, S.-C., Easton, J., Cheng, J., Boggs, K., Santiago-Morales, N., Iacobucci, I., ... Mullighan, C. G. (2014). Targetable Kinase-Activating Lesions in Ph-like Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *371*(11). https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1403088
- Roberts, K. G., Morin, R. D., Zhang, J., Hirst, M., Zhao, Y., Su, X., Chen, S. C., Payne-Turner, D., Churchman, M. L., Harvey, R. C., Chen, X., Kasap, C., Yan, C., Becksfort, J., Finney, R. P., Teachey, D. T., Maude, S. L., Tse, K., Moore, R., ... Mullighan, C. G. (2012). Genetic Alterations Activating Kinase and Cytokine Receptor Signaling in High-Risk Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Cancer Cell*, 22(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2012.06.005
- Robitaille, A. M., Christen, S., Shimobayashi, M., Cornu, M., Fava, L. L., Moes, S., Prescianotto-Baschong, C., Sauer, U., Jenoe, P., & Hall, M. N. (2013). Quantitative phosphoproteomics reveal mTORC1 activates de novo pyrimidine synthesis. *Science*. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1228771
- Rodríguez-Lirio, A., Pérez-Yarza, G., Fernández-Suárez, M. R., Alonso-Tejerina, E., Boyano, M. D., & Asumendi, A. (2015). Metformin Induces Cell Cycle Arrest and Apoptosis in Drug-Resistant Leukemia Cells. *Leukemia Research and Treatment*, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/516460
- Salzer, W. L., Devidas, M., Shuster, J. J., Wang, C., Chauvenet, A., Asselin, B. L., Camitta, B. M., & Kurtzberg, J. (2007). Intensified PEG-L-asparaginase and antimetabolite-based therapy for treatment of higher risk precursor-B acute lymphoblastic leukemia: A report from the children's oncology group. *Journal of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology*, 29(6). https://doi.org/10.1097/MPH.0b013e3180640d54
- Sancak, Y., Bar-Peled, L., Zoncu, R., Markhard, A. L., Nada, S., & Sabatini, D. M. (2010). Ragulator-rag complex targets mTORC1 to the lysosomal surface and is necessary for its activation by amino acids. *Cell*, 141(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.024
- Sancak, Y., Peterson, T. R., Shaul, Y. D., Lindquist, R. A., Thoreen, C. C., Bar-Peled, L., & Sabatini, D. M. (2008). The rag GTPases bind raptor and mediate amino acid signaling to mTORC1. *Science*, 320(5882). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1157535
- Saxton, R. A., Knockenhauer, K. E., Wolfson, R. L., Chantranupong, L., Pacold, M. E., Wang, T., Schwartz, T. U., & Sabatini, D. M. (2016). Structural basis for leucine
sensing by the Sestrin2-mTORC1 pathway. *Science*, *351*(6268). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad2087

- Saxton, R. A., & Sabatini, D. M. (2017). mTOR Signaling in Growth, Metabolism, and Disease. In *Cell* (Vol. 168, Issue 6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.02.004
- Schafer, Z. T., Grassian, A. R., Song, L., Jiang, Z., Gerhart-Hines, Z., Irie, H. Y., Gao, S., Puigserver, P., & Brugge, J. S. (2009). Antioxidant and oncogene rescue of metabolic defects caused by loss of matrix attachment. *Nature*, 461(7260). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08268
- Scherr, M., Elder, A., Battmer, K., Barzan, D., Bomken, S., Ricke-Hoch, M., Schröder, A., Venturini, L., Blair, H. J., Vormoor, J., Ottmann, O., Ganser, A., Pich, A., Hilfiker-Kleiner, D., Heidenreich, O., & Eder, M. (2014). Differential expression of miR-17~92 identifies BCL2 as a therapeutic target in BCR-ABL-positive B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia*, 28(3). https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2013.361
- Schinnerl, D., Fortschegger, K., Kauer, M., Marchante, J. R. M., Kofler, R., Den Boer, M. L., & Strehl, S. (2015). The role of the Janus-faced transcription factor PAX5-JAK2 in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood*, 125(8). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-04-570960
- Sekine, Y., Yamamoto, K., Kurata, M., Honda, A., Onishi, I., Kinowaki, Y., Kawade, G., Watabe, S., Nomura, S., Fukuda, S., Ishibashi, S., Ikeda, M., Yamamoto, M., & Kitagawa, M. (2022). HADHB, a fatty acid beta-oxidation enzyme, is a potential prognostic predictor in malignant lymphoma. *Pathology*, 54(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pathol.2021.06.119
- Shackelford, D. B., Abt, E., Gerken, L., Vasquez, D. S., Seki, A., Leblanc, M., Wei, L., Fishbein, M. C., Czernin, J., Mischel, P. S., & Shaw, R. J. (2013). LKB1 Inactivation Dictates Therapeutic Response of Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer to the Metabolism Drug Phenformin. *Cancer Cell*, 23(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2012.12.008
- Shao, C., Lu, W., Du, Y., Yan, W., Bao, Q., Tian, Y., Wang, G., Ye, H., & Hao, H. (2020). Cytosolic ME1 integrated with mitochondrial IDH2 supports tumor growth and metastasis. *Redox Biology*, 36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2020.101685
- Shen, S., Chen, X., Cai, J., Yu, J., Gao, J., Hu, S., Zhai, X., Liang, C., Ju, X., Jiang, H., Jin, R., Wu, X., Wang, N., Tian, X., Pan, K., Jiang, H., Sun, L., Fang, Y., Li, C. K., ...
  Pui, C. H. (2020). Effect of Dasatinib vs Imatinib in the Treatment of Pediatric Philadelphia Chromosome-Positive Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Oncology*, 6(3). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.5868
- Shi, X., Tasdogan, A., Huang, F., Hu, Z., Morrison, S. J., & DeBerardinis, R. J. (2017). The abundance of metabolites related to protein methylation correlates with the metastatic capacity of human melanoma xenografts. *Science Advances*, 3(11). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aao5268
- Shim, H., Dolde, C., Lewis, B. C., Wu, C. S., Dang, G., Jungmann, R. A., Dalla-Favera, R., & Dang, C. V. (1997). c-Myc transactivation of LDH-A: Implications for tumor metabolism and growth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(13). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.13.6658
- Shin, Y. K., Byong, C. Y., Hee, J. C., Jeon, E., Hong, S. H., Jung, M. S., Lim, S. J., & Park, J. G. (2005). Down-regulation of mitochondrial F1F0-ATP synthase in human colon cancer cells with induced 5-fluorouracil resistance. *Cancer Research*, 65(8). https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3300
- Silverman, L. B., Gelber, R. D., Dalton, V. K., Asselin, B. L., Barr, R. D., Clavell, L. A., Hurwitz, C. A., Moghrabi, A., Samson, Y., Schorin, M. A., Arkin, S., Declerck, L., Cohen, H. J., & Sallan, S. E. (2001). Improved outcome for children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: Results of Dana-Farber Consortium Protocol 91-01. *Blood*, 97(5). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V97.5.1211

- Simsek, T., Kocabas, F., Zheng, J., Deberardinis, R. J., Mahmoud, A. I., Olson, E. N., Schneider, J. W., Zhang, C. C., & Sadek, H. A. (2010). The distinct metabolic profile of hematopoietic stem cells reflects their location in a hypoxic niche. *Cell Stem Cell*, 7(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2010.07.011
- Siska, E. K., Weisman, I., Romano, J., Ivics, Z., Izsvák, Z., Barkai, U., Petrakis, S., & Koliakos, G. (2017). Generation of an immortalized mesenchymal stem cell line producing a secreted biosensor protein for glucose monitoring. *PLoS ONE*, 12(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0185498
- Smith, M. A., Seibel, N. L., Altekruse, S. F., Ries, L. A. G., Melbert, D. L., O'Leary, M., Smith, F. O., & Reaman, G. H. (2010). Outcomes for children and adolescents with cancer: Challenges for the twenty-first century. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 28(15). https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.27.0421
- Søegaard, S. H., Rostgaard, K., Skogstrand, K., Wiemels, J. L., Schmiegelow, K., & Hjalgrim, H. (2018). Neonatal inflammatory markers are associated with childhood bcell precursor acute lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Cancer Research*, 78(18). https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-0831
- Starkova, J., Hermanova, I., Hlozkova, K., Hararova, A., & Trka, J. (2018). Altered Metabolism of Leukemic Cells: New Therapeutic Opportunity. In *International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology* (1st ed., Vol. 336). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ircmb.2017.07.012
- Stäubert, C., Bhuiyan, H., Lindahl, A., Broom, O. J., Zhu, Y., Islam, S., Linnarsson, S., Lehtiö, J., & Nordström, A. (2015). Rewired metabolism in drug-resistant leukemia cells: A metabolic switch hallmarked by reduced dependence on exogenous glutamine. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 290(13). https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.618769
- Stiller, C. A., Marcos-Gragera, R., Ardanaz, E., Pannelli, F., Almar Marqués, E., Cañada Martinez, A., Steliarova-Foucher, E., Petrovich, S. V., Budanov, O., Storm, H., Christensen, N., Aareleid, T., Hakulinen, T., Sankila, R., Pukkala, E., Le Gall, E., Tron, I., Lacour, B., Desandes, E., ... McDonald, A. (2006). Geographical patterns of childhood cancer incidence in Europe, 1988-1997. Report from the Automated Childhood Cancer Information System project. *European Journal of Cancer*, 42(13). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2006.05.017
- Sullivan, W. J., Mullen, P. J., Schmid, E. W., Flores, A., Momcilovic, M., Sharpley, M. S., Jelinek, D., Whiteley, A. E., Maxwell, M. B., Wilde, B. R., Banerjee, U., Coller, H. A., Shackelford, D. B., Braas, D., Ayer, D. E., de Aguiar Vallim, T. Q., Lowry, W. E., & Christofk, H. R. (2018). Extracellular Matrix Remodeling Regulates Glucose Metabolism through TXNIP Destabilization. *Cell*, *175*(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.08.017
- Szarzyńska-Zawadzka, B., Kunz, J. B., Sędek, Ł., Kosmalska, M., Zdon, K., Biecek, P., Bandapalli, O. R., Kraszewska-Hamilton, M., Jaksik, R., Drobna, M., Kowalczyk, J. R., Szczepański, T., Van Vlierberghe, P., Kulozik, A. E., Witt, M., & Dawidowska, M. (2019). PTEN abnormalities predict poor outcome in children with T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated according to ALL IC-BFM protocols. In *American Journal of Hematology* (Vol. 94, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.25396
- Taichman, R. S., Reilly, M. J., & Emerson, S. G. (1996). Human osteoblasts support human hematopoietic progenitor cells in in vitro bone marrow cultures. *Blood*, 87(2). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v87.2.518.bloodjournal872518
- Takahashi, K., Wang, F., Morita, K., Yan, Y., Hu, P., Zhao, P., Zhar, A. A., Wu, C. J.,
  Gumbs, C., Little, L., Tippen, S., Thornton, R., Coyle, M., Mendoza, M., Thompson,
  E., Zhang, J., Dinardo, C. D., Jain, N., Ravandi, F., ... Futreal, P. A. (2018).
  Integrative genomic analysis of adult mixed phenotype acute leukemia delineates

lineage associated molecular subtypes. *Nature Communications*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04924-z

- Tallal, L., Tan, C., Oettgen, H., Wollner, N., McCarthy, M., Helson, L., Burchenal, J., Karnofsky, D., & Murphy, M. L. (1970). E. coli L-asparaginase in the treatment of leukemia and solid tumors in 131 children. *Cancer*, 25(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0142(197002)25:2<306::AID-CNCR2820250206>3.0.CO;2-H
- Tan, Y., Li, J., Zhao, G., Huang, K. C., Cardenas, H., Wang, Y., Matei, D., & Cheng, J. X. (2022). Metabolic reprogramming from glycolysis to fatty acid uptake and betaoxidation in platinum-resistant cancer cells. *Nature Communications*, 13(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-32101-w
- Tanasi, I., Ba, I., Sirvent, N., Braun, T., Cuccuini, W., Ballerini, P., Duployez, N., Tanguy-Schmidt, A., Tamburini, J., Maury, S., Doré, E., Himberlin, C., Duclos, C., Chevallier, P., Rousselot, P., Bonifacio, M., Cavé, H., Baruchel, A., Dombret, H., ... Clappier, E. (2019). Efficacy of tyrosine kinase inhibitors in Ph-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia harboring ABL-class rearrangements. In *Blood* (Vol. 134, Issue 16). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2019001244
- Teachey, D. T., & Pui, C. H. (2019). Comparative features and outcomes between paediatric T-cell and B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. In *The Lancet Oncology* (Vol. 20, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30031-2
- Tennant, D. A., & Gottlieb, E. (2010). HIF prolyl hydroxylase-3 mediates alphaketoglutarate-induced apoptosis and tumor suppression. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 88(8). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-010-0627-0
- Tesio, M., Trinquand, A., Ballerini, P., Hypolite, G., Lhermitte, L., Petit, A., Ifrah, N., Baruchel, A., Dombret, H., Macintyre, E., & Asnafi, V. (2017). Age-related clinical and biological features of PTEN abnormalities in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Leukemia*, 31(12). https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2017.157
- Thompson, C. B. (2011). Rethinking the regulation of cellular metabolism. *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology*, 76. https://doi.org/10.1101/sqb.2012.76.010496
- Tuong, P. N., Kiem Hao, T., & Kim Hoa, N. T. (2020). Relapsed Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: A Single-Institution Experience. *Cureus*. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.9238
- Usmani, S., Sivagnanalingam, U., Tkachenko, O., Nunez, L., Shand, J. C., & Mullen, C. A. (2019). Support of acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells by nonmalignant bone marrow stromal cells. *Oncology Letters*, 17(6). https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2019.10188
- Van Blerkom, J., Davis, P., & Alexander, S. (2003). Inner mitochondrial membrane potential (ΔΨm), cytoplasmic ATP content and free Ca2+ levels in metaphase II mouse oocytes. *Human Reproduction*, 18(11). https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deg466
- Van Der Veer, A., Waanders, E., Pieters, R., Willemse, M. E., Van Reijmersdal, S. V., Russell, L. J., Harrison, C. J., Evans, W. E., Van Der Velden, V. H. J., Hoogerbrugge, P. M., Van Leeuwen, F., Escherich, G., Horstmann, M. A., Khankahdani, L. M., Rizopoulos, D., De Groot-Kruseman, H. A., Sonneveld, E., Kuiper, R. P., & Den Boer, M. L. (2013). Independent prognostic value of BCR-ABL1-like signature and IKZF1 deletion, but not high CRLF2 expression, in children with B-cell precursor ALL. *Blood*, *122*(15). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-10-462358
- Van Trimpont, M., Peeters, E., De Visser, Y., Schalk, A. M., Mondelaers, V., De Moerloose, B., Lavie, A., Lammens, T., Goossens, S., & Van Vlierberghe, P. (2022). Novel Insights on the Use of L-Asparaginase as an Efficient and Safe Anti-Cancer Therapy. *Cancers*, 14(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers14040902
- Vasconcellos, F. De, Brunelli, A., Laranjeira, A., Ivo, N., Zanchin, T., Otubo, R., Vaz, T.

H., Cardoso, A. A., & Brandalise, S. R. (2011). Increased CCL2 and IL-8 in the Bone Marrow Microenvironment in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Pediatric Blood and Cancer, March 2010*.

- Verma, N., Kumar, K., Kaur, G., & Anand, S. (2007). L-asparaginase: A promising chemotherapeutic agent. In *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology* (Vol. 27, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1080/07388550601173926
- Wade, H. E., Elsworth, R., Herbert, D., Keppie, J., & Sargeant, K. (1968). A new Lasparaginase with antitumour activity? *Lancet*, 292(7571). https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(68)90977-x
- Wang, Y. H., Israelsen, W. J., Lee, D., Yu, V. W. C., Jeanson, N. T., Clish, C. B., Cantley, L. C., Vander Heiden, M. G., & Scadden, D. T. (2014). Cell-state-specific metabolic dependency in hematopoiesis and leukemogenesis. *Cell*, 158(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.07.048
- Wang, Y., Zhong, Y., Hou, T., Liao, J., Zhang, C., Sun, C., & Wang, G. (2019). PM2.5 induces EMT and promotes CSC properties by activating Notch pathway in vivo and vitro. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.03.086
- Warburg, O. (1956). On Respiratory Impairment in Cancer Cells. *Science*, *124*(3215). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.124.3215.269
- Warburg, O., Wind, F., & Negelein, E. (1927). The metabolism of tumors in the body. *Journal of General Physiology*. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.8.6.519
- Ward, E., DeSantis, C., Robbins, A., Kohler, B., & Jemal, A. (2014). Childhood and adolescent cancer statistics, 2014. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 64(2), 83– 103. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21219
- Wieman, H. L., Wofford, J. A., & Rathmell, J. C. (2007). Cytokine stimulation promotes glucose uptake via phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase/Akt regulation of Glut1 activity and trafficking. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 18(4). https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E06-07-0593
- Wise, D. R., Deberardinis, R. J., Mancuso, A., Sayed, N., Zhang, X. Y., Pfeiffer, H. K., Nissim, I., Daikhin, E., Yudkoff, M., McMahon, S. B., & Thompson, C. B. (2008).
  Myc regulates a transcriptional program that stimulates mitochondrial glutaminolysis and leads to glutamine addiction. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105(48). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0810199105
- Wu, A., Loutherback, K., Lambert, G., Estéèez-Salmerón, L., Tlsty, T. D., Austin, R. H., & Sturm, J. C. (2013). Cell motility and drug gradients in the emergence of resistance to chemotherapy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 110(40). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1314385110
- Wyant, G. A., Abu-Remaileh, M., Wolfson, R. L., Chen, W. W., Freinkman, E., Danai, L. V., Vander Heiden, M. G., & Sabatini, D. M. (2017). mTORC1 Activator SLC38A9 Is Required to Efflux Essential Amino Acids from Lysosomes and Use Protein as a Nutrient. *Cell*, 171(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.046
- Xiao, W., Bharadwaj, M., Levine, M., Farnhoud, N., Pastore, F., Getta, B. M., Hultquist, A., Famulare, C., Medina, J. S., Patel, M. A., Gao, Q., Lewis, N., Pichardo, J., Baik, J., Shaffer, B., Giralt, S., Rampal, R., Devlin, S., Cimera, R., ... Roshal, M. (2018). PHF6 and DNMT3A mutations are enriched in distinct subgroups of mixed phenotype acute leukemia with T-lineage differentiation. *Blood Advances*, 2(23). https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2018023531
- Ye, H., Adane, B., Khan, N., Stranahan, A. W., Park, C. Y., Jordan, C. T., Ye, H., Adane, B., Khan, N., Sullivan, T., Minhajuddin, M., Gasparetto, M., Stranahan, A. W., Park, C. Y., & Jordan, C. T. (2016). Leukemic Stem Cells Evade Chemotherapy by Metabolic Adaptation to an Adipose Tissue Niche Article Leukemic Stem Cells

Evade Chemotherapy by Metabolic Adaptation to an Adipose Tissue Niche. *Cell Stem Cell*, *19*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2016.06.001

- Zelent, A., Greaves, M., & Enver, T. (2004). Role of the TEL-AML1 fusion gene in the molecular pathogenesis of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. In *Oncogene* (Vol. 23, Issue 24). https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1207672
- Zhang, Y., Li, C., Hu, C., Wu, Q., Cai, Y., Xing, S., Lu, H., Wang, L., Huang, D., Sun, L., Li, T., He, X., Zhong, X., Wang, J., Gao, P., Smith, Z. J., Jia, W., & Zhang, H. (2019). Lin28 enhances de novo fatty acid synthesis to promote cancer progression via SREBP -1 . *EMBO Reports*, 20(10). https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201948115
- Zhao, M., & Li, L. (2016). Dissecting the bone marrow HSC niches. In *Cell Research* (Vol. 26, Issue 9). https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2016.71
- Zhou, H., Wang, F., & Niu, T. (2022). Prediction of prognosis and immunotherapy response of amino acid metabolism genes in acute myeloid leukemia. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2022.1056648
- Zorova, L. D., Popkov, V. A., Plotnikov, E. Y., Silachev, D. N., Pevzner, I. B., Jankauskas, S. S., Babenko, V. A., Zorov, S. D., Balakireva, A. V., Juhaszova, M., Sollott, S. J., & Zorov, D. B. (2018). Mitochondrial membrane potential. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ab.2017.07.009

## 9. ATTACHMENTS

- Publication 1: <u>Alquezar-Artieda N</u>, Kuzilkova D, Roberts J, Hlozkova K, Pecinova A et al. Restored biosynthetic pathways induced by MSCs serve as rescue mechanism in leukemia cells after L-asparaginase therapy. Blood adv. 2023; 10:2228
- Publication 2 Hlozkova K, Pecinova A, Alquezar-Artieda N, et al. Metabolic profile of leukemia cells influences treatment efficacy of l-asparaginase. BMC Cancer. 2020;20:526
- Publication 3: Hlozkova K, Hermanova I, Safrhansova L, Alquezar-Artieda N, et al. PTEN/PI3K/Akt pathway alters sensitivity of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia to l-asparaginase. Sci. Rep. 2022;12(1):.
- Publication 4: Lukes J, Potuckova E, <u>Alquezar-Artieda N</u>, et al. Chimeric JAK2 kinases trigger non-uniform changes of cellular metabolism in BCR-ALB1-like childhood ALL. (Under review in HemaSpere)